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REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS 

 
Fellow Unitholders: 

2012 continued to be another incredible year of 
growth for Pure Industrial Real Estate Trust (“PIRET” 
or the “Trust”).  PIRET continued to see a steady and 
robust pipeline of acquisition opportunities, a 
healthy demand for yield-based investments and 
REITs in an active Canadian equity capital markets, 
and mortgages at attractive rates on terms from 5 to 
20 years.   
 
During 2012, PIRET completed four bought deal 
public offerings for gross proceeds of $158.8 million, 
and made accretive acquisitions of 26 properties in 
key primary locations for a total of $294.7 million.  
As at December 31, 2012, the Trust’s industrial 
portfolio consisted of 87 properties representing a 
Gross Leasable Area (“GLA”) of over 6.9 million 
square feet, up from 62 properties and 4.1 million 
square feet as of December 31, 2011.  The 
acquisitions together with the fair value adjustment 
of $5.1 million have increased our investment 
property balance from $439.5 million to $743.9 
million.   
 
PIRET was able to consistently maintain a strong 
97.6% occupancy rate for all properties owned as at 
December 31, 2012, with lease terms that are 
between one and twenty-five years.  Most of the 
leases that will expire within the next three years 
have at least one renewal option for another five 
years.  The weighted average lease term at the end 
of the year for our portfolio is 8.9 years and 
continues to be one of the longest average lease 
terms in the Canadian REIT world.   
 
PIRET’s mortgage balance rose from $246.2 million 
in 2011 to $386.1 million at the end of 2012 as was 
expected due to the addition of 26 new properties 
over the year.  The mortgages will mature between 
2013 and 2032 and have a weighted average 
mortgage term of 5.8 years.  PIRET’s Loan to Gross 

Book Value (“GBV”) of 51.9% at the end of 2012 
decreased from 55.7% in 2011. 
 
A summary of PIRET’s activities in 2012 is as follows: 
 
1

st
 Quarter of 2012: 

 
In January 2012, PIRET completed a bought deal 
public offering of 8.28 million Class A trust units 
(“Units”), inclusive of 1.08 million Units issued 
pursuant to the exercise in full of the over-allotment 
option, priced at $4.20 per Unit for total gross 
proceeds to PIRET of $34.8 million.  The proceeds 
from this equity raise were used for the acquisition 
of five properties, four of which were completed 
during the first quarter.  The Trust acquired a single-
tenant investment property located at 7830 Vantage 
Way, Delta, British Columbia for a total purchase 
price of $4.5 million.  The property is a 46,300 
square foot facility situated on 2.12 acres of land and 
is leased to Zodiac Hurricane Technologies Inc. on a 
fully net basis until September 30, 2016.  The 
property was acquired at a going-in capitalization 
rate (“cap rate”) of 6.50%.  Zodiac Hurricane 
Technologies Inc., is an international manufacturer 
of military and commercial grade boats.   
 
The Trust also acquired one single-tenant investment 
property and one multi-tenant investment property 
located at 925 Brock Road, and 927-931 Brock Road, 
Pickering, Ontario.  The investment properties were 
acquired for a total purchase price of $22.1 million.  
Collectively, the properties aggregate approximately 
325,690 square feet of GLA, and are situated on 
20.08 acres of land.  The properties have six acres of 
additional land that will allow for future expansion of 
the property by approximately 120,000 square feet.  
PIRETacquired these 2 properties at a going-in cap 
rate of 8.00% and are in aggregate 93% leased to a 
variety of national and regional tenants with a 
weighted average lease term of 3.6 years.   
 



REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS 

2 

 

The fourth acquisition in the quarter was a $6.5 
million, single-tenant investment property located at 
1345 Redwood Avenue in Winnipeg, Manitoba.  
PIRET acquired this asset at a going-in cap rate of 
7.76% and the property has a total rentable area of 
112,340 square feet, is situated on 9.9 acres, and has 
4.0 acres of future development land.  The property 
is 100% leased until January 2016 to Boeing Canada 
Operations Ltd., a subsidiary of The Boeing 
Company, the world’s leading aerospace company 
and the largest manufacturer of commercial jetliners 
and military aircrafts.   
 
In March 2012, PIRET completed another bought 
deal offering of 7.00 million Units, at a price of $4.50 
per Unit for total gross proceeds to PIRET of $31.5 
million.  Also in March 2012, PIRET completed the 
sale of 703,100  Units pursuant to the partial 
exercise of the over-allotment option, granted in 
connection with the bought deal offering earlier in 
the month, for gross proceeds to PIRET of $3.2 
million.  The proceeds from these equity raises were 
used for the acquisition of six properties completed 
in the 2

nd
 and 3

rd
 quarters.   
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nd
 Quarter of 2012: 

 
In April of 2012, PIRET completed the acquisition of a 
property located at 2440 Winston Park Drive, in 
Oakville, Ontario for a total purchase price of $10.6 
million.   The property, acquired at a cap rate of 
6.75%, is a 94,998 square foot facility situated on 5.1 
acres of land and is LEED Silver certified.   
 
In May 2012, PIRET acquired a fully leased, single-
tenant investment property located at 230 Barmac 
Drive in North York, Ontario for a total purchase 
price of $7.3 million.  The property was acquired at a 
going-in cap rate of 6.50%, has a GLA of 118,225 
square feet and is 100% leased to a leading private 
distributor of apparel until June 30, 2015.  Also, in 
May, PIRET acquired two fully leased, single-tenant 
investment properties located at 12155 – 154

th
 

Street in Edmonton, Alberta and 515 Welham Road 
in Barrie, Ontario for $19.5 million.  The properties 
have a combined GLA of 187,753 square feet and are 
leased on a fully net basis for 20 years to a leading 
private designer and manufacturer of specialized 
heavy equipment attachments for companies 
dedicated to servicing the construction, resource, 
forestry and mining industries.  The assets were 
acquired at a going-in cap rate of 8.00%.   
 

The Trust also acquired two investment properties in 
June 2012.  The first property is located at 2030 
Notre Dame Avenue in Winnipeg, Manitoba and was 
acquired for $8.1 million at a going-in cap rate of 
7.68%.  The 108,238 square foot property situated 
on 6.3 acres of land is 100% leased to three strong 
national and regional tenants on a fully net basis 
with a weighted average lease term of 
approximately 5.9 years.  The second property is an 
$8.3 million, single-tenant, fully leased investment 
property located at 6800 Rexwood Road in 
Mississauga, Ontario.  PIRET acquired this asset at a 
going-in cap rate of 6.74% and the property has a 
total rentable area of 101,039 square feet situated 
on 4.4 acres of land.  The property is 100% leased to 
a strong regional food distribution tenant until 
December 31, 2020.   
 
In June 2012, PIRET sold a property located at 4311 – 
122

nd
 Avenue SE in Calgary, Alberta to a private 

buyer for gross proceeds of $6.1 million, less 
standard closing costs and adjustments of $0.2 
million.  The Trust repaid the mortgage on this 
property of $2.3 million at that time, resulting in net 
proceeds of $3.6 million and a gain on sale of $2.1 
million.  This property was initially acquired as part 
of a $70.1 million portfolio on June 8, 2011 and has a 
total rentable area of 29,943 square feet.   
 
3

rd
 Quarter of 2012: 

 
In August of 2012, PIRET completed the acquisition 
of a property located at 15 Turbo Drive in Edmonton, 
Alberta for a total purchase price of $4.3 million 
representing a going-in cap rate of 7.96%.  The 
property is 27,071 square feet and is situated on 
2.01 acres of land.  The property is 100% leased to 
two strong regional tenants on a fully net basis with 
leases expiring on November 30, 2015 and May 31, 
2022.   
 
On September 19, 2012, PIRET received final 
approval from the Toronto Stock Exchange (the 
“TSX”) to list its Units and commence trading on the 
TSX.  The graduation to the TSX represents an 
important milestone in the maturation of PIRET. 
 
In September 2012, PIRET completed its third bought 
deal offering of the year of 7.015 million Units, 
inclusive of 0.915 million units issued pursuant to 
the exercise in full of the over-allotment option, 
priced at $4.95 per Unit for total gross proceeds to 
PIRET of $34.7 million.  The proceeds from this 
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equity raise were used for the acquisition of two 
portfolios and two properties. 
 
Just before the quarter came to an end, PIRET 
acquired a portfolio of five fully leased single-
tenanted, income producing industrial properties for 
an aggregate purchase price of $48.0 million.  The 
properties are located at 10501 Barlow Trail SE, 
Calgary, Alberta; 12311 – 17

th
 Street NE, Edmonton, 

Alberta; 30 – 53016 Highway 60, Acheson, Alberta; 
15602 – 94

th
 Street, Grande Prairie, Alberta; and 

13511 Vulcan Way, Richmond, British Columbia and 
were acquired at a going-in cap rate of 7.10%.  The 
properties have a combined rentable area of 
237,141 square feet with approximately 80 acres of 
land and are 100% leased on a fully net basis for 20 
years, expiring September 27, 2032 to one of the 
largest integrated oil and gas environmental service 
companies in North America.   
 
4

th
 Quarter of 2012: 

 
In early October 2012, the Trust acquired two 
properties in Alberta and a portfolio of four 
properties in Ontario, representing six fully leased, 
single-tenanted, income producing industrial 
properties.  The two properties acquired in Alberta 
consist of two single-tenant properties located at 
7303 and 7403 30

th
 Street SE, Calgary, Alberta.  The 

properties were acquired at a purchase price of $8.7 
million and represent a 7.30% going-in cap rate.  The 
two properties comprising an aggregate rentable 
area of 72,549 square feet are 100% leased to a high 
quality regional tenant under a 10 year fully net 
lease expiring on September 30, 2022.  The portfolio 
of properties in Ontario consists of four single-tenant 
properties located at 120 Trillium Drive, Kitchener, 
Ontario; 845 Laurentian Drive, Burlington, Ontario; 
5330 South Service Road, Burlington, Ontario; and 
55 Doney Crescent, Vaughan, Ontario and were 
acquired for an aggregate purchase price of $34.9 
million representing a going-in cap rate of 6.85%.  
The portfolio of properties have a combined rentable 
area of 462,561 square feet and are 100% leased on 
a fully net basis to a variety of high quality national 
and regional tenants with a weighted average 
remaining lease term of approximately 6.1 years.   
 
In December 2012, PIRET completed a bought deal 
offering of 10.53 million Units, at a price of $4.75 per 
Unit for total gross proceeds to PIRET of $50.0 
million.  Also in December 2012, PIRET completed 
the sale of 0.964 Units pursuant to the partial 

exercise of the over-allotment option, granted in 
connection with the bought deal offering earlier in 
the month, for gross proceeds to PIRET of $4.6 
million.  The proceeds from these equity raises were 
used to acquire one property in Alberta, one 
property in Ontario and a portfolio of two properties 
in British Columbia before the end of the year.  The 
proceeds from this equity raise were also used to 
acquire one property in British Columbia that closed 
in the first quarter of 2013.   
 
The properties in Alberta and Ontario consist of two 
single-tenant properties located at 170 Claireville 
Drive, Toronto, Ontario and 3408 – 76

th
 Avenue NW, 

Edmonton, Alberta.  The properties were acquired 
for an aggregate purchase price of $6.5 million 
representing a 6.71% going-in cap rate and comprise 
a total of 52,782 square feet of rentable area.  The 
two properties are 100% leased to the same high 
quality national tenant under 10 year, fully net 
leases expiring on December 31, 2022.   
 
Lastly, PIRET made its single largest acquisition to 
date by acquiring a portfolio consisting of one fully 
leased single-tenant and one fully leased multi-
tenant, income producing industrial properties in 
British Columbia located at 16131 and 16133 
Blundell Road in Richmond.  The portfolio was 
acquired for a total purchase price of $102.5 million, 
representing a 6.16% going-in cap rate and has an 
aggregate rentable area of 927,351 square feet.  The 
portfolio is 100% leased to four high quality multi-
national and regional tenants with a weighted 
average remaining lease term of approximately five 
years.   
 
After a remarkable year of growth evidenced by four 
equity financings totalling $158.8 million in gross 
equity raised and 26 acquisitions of investment 
properties for total consideration of $294.7 million, 
PIRET closes 2012 with 87 investment properties 
representing over 6.9 million square feet and an 
occupancy rate of 98%.  The portfolio is strategically 
weighted in the four key markets that the Trust sees 
growth and opportunities; Greater Vancouver Area, 
Calgary, Edmonton, and the Greater Toronto Area. 
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2013 Outlook: 
 
PIRET’s management has successfully delivered 
consistent results for 2012 by focusing on its core 
values: actively managing our portfolio; maintaining 
high occupancy levels through our diversified tenant 
base, and prudently managing the Trust’s balance 
sheet by maintaining a loan to value ratio much 
lower than our Declaration of Trust’s maximum of 
70%.  Our financial and operating results for 2012 
are consistent with our long-term objectives and 
reflect the strong fundamentals of the industrial real 
estate market in Canada as the Trust seeks to be a 
leader in the Canadian REIT space as a result of our 
dedication to high quality assets, safety in capital, 
ethical behavior, and continued growth.   
 
PIRET believes that superior returns can be achieved 
by targeting properties in primary industrial markets 
across Canada.  PIRET’s geographic areas of focus 
continue to be the Greater Toronto Area, the lower 
mainland of British Columbia and Alberta, with a 
secondary focus on the other major Canadian 
centres on an opportunistic basis.  PIRET intends to 
acquire properties in clusters and asset sizes that will 
ensure regional economies of scale and geographic 
diversification in its portfolio.  The Trust focuses on 

acquiring industrial assets with strong tenant bases, 
low vacancy rates and existing long-term leases and 
intends to acquire properties that are in good to 
superior physical condition with little to no required 
capital expenditures. 
 
PIRET’s growth strategies have continued into 2013.  
In January 2013, PIRET completed the acquisition of 
an industrial investment property in British 
Columbia.  In February 2013, PIRET completed a 
$69.7 million bought deal equity financing to acquire 
15 investment properties for $129.4 million.  
Subsequently in February and March, PIRET acquired 
10 properties for $132.4 million.   
 
We intend to prudently grow our industrial portfolio 
across Canada and through solid operating results, 
conservative financing, and our pro-active 
management approach, we are optimistic that PIRET 
will continue to be a “must own” name in the 
Canadian REIT marketplace.   
 
We would like to express our thanks to the PIRET 
team of professionals, to our excellent Board of 
Trustees and to our Unitholders for their continued 
support. 

 
Yours truly, 

“T. Richard Turner” “Darren Latoski” “Stephen Evans” 
T. Richard Turner, Darren Latoski,  Stephen Evans, 
Chair of the Board of Trustees Co-Chief Executive Officer Co-Chief Executive Officer 
March 14, 2013 March 14, 2013  March 14, 2013      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1
 The discussion above contains forward-looking information and is qualified in its entirety by the “Forward-looking 

information” section in the Trust’s Management’s Discussion & Analysis dated March 14, 2013. 
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SECTION I 

FORWARD-LOOKING DISCLAIMER 

Management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial position and the results of operations of Pure 

Industrial Real Estate Trust (the “Trust” or “PIRET”) for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 should be 

read in conjunction with PIRET’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 

2011.  Historical results, including trends which might appear, should not be taken as indicative of future 

operations or results. 

Certain information in this MD&A contains forward-looking information within the meaning of applicable 

securities laws (also known as forward-looking statements) including, among others, statements made or 

implied under the headings “Results of Operations”, “Financial Condition”, “Liquidity and Capital Resources”, 

“Risks and Uncertainties” and “Outlook” relating to PIRET’s objectives, strategies to achieve those objectives, 

beliefs, plans, estimates, projections and intentions; and similar statements concerning anticipated future 

events, results, circumstances, performance or expectations that are not historical facts.  Forward-looking 

statements generally can be identified by words such as “outlook”, “believe”, “expect”, “may”, “anticipate”, 

“should”, “intend”, “estimates” and similar expressions. 

Forward-looking statements are provided for the purpose of presenting information about management’s 

current expectations and plans relating to the future and readers are cautioned that such statements may not 

be appropriate for other purposes.  Forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties and 

should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results.  Those risks and uncertainties include, 

among other things, risks related to: unit prices; liquidity; credit risk and tenant concentration; interest rate 

and other debt related risk; tax risk; ability to access capital markets; lease rollover risk; competition for real 

property investments; environmental matters; changes in legislation and indebtedness of PIRET.  Management 

believes that the expectations reflected in forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable 

assumptions and information currently available; however, management can give no assurance that actual 

results will be consistent with these forward-looking statements. 

Factors and assumptions that were applied in drawing conclusions and could cause actual results, 

performance, or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking 

statements, include, but are not limited to, general economic conditions, competition for real property 

investments, the availability of new competitive supply of commercial real estate, PIRET’s ability to maintain 

occupancy, tenant defaults, changes in interest rates, changes in governmental regulations and taxation, and 

PIRET’s ability to obtain adequate insurance and financing. 

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of factors that may affect future results is not exhaustive.  When 

relying on forward-looking statements to make decisions with respect to PIRET, investors and others should 

carefully consider the foregoing factors and other uncertainties and potential events. 

These forward-looking statements are made as of March 14, 2013 and PIRET assumes no obligation to update 

or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances, except as required by law. 

 



MANAGEMENT‘S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

7 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Unless otherwise noted, all financial information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  The financial 

information included in this MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2012 includes material information up to 

March 14, 2013.   

OVERVIEW 

ABOUT PIRET 

PIRET is Canada’s largest internally managed publicly traded REIT that focuses only on  industrial properties 

and its primary objectives are (a) to generate stable and growing cash distributions on a tax efficient basis 

from investments in income producing industrial properties in primary markets across Canada, (b) to enhance 

the value of PIRET’s assets and maximize the long-term value of the properties through active management, 

and (c) to expand its asset base and increase its distributable income through an accretive acquisition 

program. 

PIRET is an unincorporated open-ended trust formed under and governed by the laws of the Province of 

British Columbia and created pursuant to the Declaration of Trust dated June 24, 2007, and amended on 

November 18, 2010 (the “Declaration of Trust”).  PIRET was established for the purposes of acquiring, owning 

and operating a diversified portfolio of income producing industrial properties in primary markets across 

Canada.  The units of the Trust trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol “AAR.UN”. The 

Trust’s head office is located at 910 – 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3L2, Canada and its asset 

management office is located at 150 King Street West, Suite 2420, P.O. Box 72, Toronto, ON, M5H 1J9, 

Canada. 

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

Number of properties 87 62 

GLA (000s) 6,924 4,081 

Occupancy 98% 99% 

Investment properties ($000s) $ 743,868   $  439,481 

Mortgages payable and bank loans ($000s) $ 393,875 $  249,498 

Weighted average effective cost of debt 4.46% 4.95% 

Weighted average debt term to maturity (years) 5.8 5.0 

Debt service coverage 1.80 1.77 

Interest coverage 2.80 2.62 

Debt to EBITDA 7.63 7.57 

Loan to gross book value 51.9% 55.7% 

 

  



MANAGEMENT‘S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

8 

 For the year  
ended December 31 

For the three months  

ended December 31 
($000s, except per unit basis) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Revenue  $ 52,340  $ 34,933  $ 15,493  $ 11,204 

Earnings from operations   39,579   27,240   11,510   8,348 

Distributions   21,451   14,353   6,147   3,972 

   Per unit   0.30   0.30   0.08   0.08 

Distributable income 
(1)

   24,607   16,438  6,684          5,107 

   per Class A unit (diluted)   0.35   0.35   0.09   0.10 

   Payout ratio   87.2%   87.3%   92.0%   77.8% 
Funds from operations 

(1)
   24,759   16,512  6,929   5,094 

   per Class A unit (diluted)   0.35   0.35   0.09   0.10 

   Payout ratio   86.6%   86.9%   88.7%   78.0% 

Adjusted funds from operations 
(1)

   22,008   14,492   5,743   4,545 

   per Class A unit (diluted)   0.32   0.31   0.07   0.09 

   Payout ratio   97.5%   99.0%   107.0%   87.4% 

(1) IFRS to non-IFRS reconciliation is performed in Section II Distributable Income, and Liquidity and Capital Resources. 

ACQUISITIONS - 2012 

Property Address Municipality 
GLA (sf) 

(000s) 
Price 

($000s) 
Going-in 
Cap Rate 

Loan to 
Value 

Occupancy 

7830 Vantage Way Delta, BC 46 $   4,450  6.50% 0% 100% 

925 Brock Rd Pickering, ON 62  17,700  8.00% 65% 91% 

927-931 Brock Rd Pickering, ON 264  4,425  8.00% 65% 100% 

1345 Redwood Avenue Winnipeg, MB 112 9,700 7.76% 67% 100% 

2440 Winston Park Drive Oakville, ON 95 10,555 6.75% 0% 100% 

230 Barmac Drive North York, ON 118 7,275 6.50% 0% 100% 

515 Welham Road Barrie, ON 45 2,666 8.00% 63% 100% 

12155 – 154
th

 Street Edmonton, AB 139 16,834 8.00% 63% 100% 

2030 Notre Dame Winnipeg, MB 108 8,100 7.68% 62% 100% 

6800 Rexwood Road Mississauga, ON 101 8,250 6.74% 0% 100% 

15 Turbo Drive Edmonton, AB 27 4,250 7.96% 0% 100% 

10501 Barlow Trail SE Calgary, AB 67 15,750 7.10% 65% 100% 

12311 – 17 Street NE Edmonton, AB 44 8,100 7.10% 65% 100% 

30 – 53016 Highway 60 Acheson, AB 52 10,650 7.10% 65% 100% 

15602 – 94 Street Grand Prairie, AB 26 7,500 7.10% 65% 100% 

13511 Vulcan Way Richmond, BC 48 6,000 7.10% 65% 100% 

7303-7403 30
th

 Street SE (2) Calgary, AB 73 8,650 7.30% 0% 100% 

120 Trillium Drive Kitchener, ON 183 14,388 6.85% 60% 100% 

845 Laurentian Drive Burlington, ON 110 9,253 6.85% 60% 100% 

5330 South Service Road Burlington, ON 48 4,852 6.85% 60% 100% 

55 Doney Crescent Vaughan, ON 121 6,407 6.85% 60% 100% 

16131-3 Blundell Road (2) Richmond, BC 927 102,460 6.16% 56% 100% 

170 Claireville Drive Toronto, ON 41 3,600 6.71% 0% 100% 

3408 – 76
th

 Avenue NW Edmonton, AB 12 2,900 6.71% 0% 100% 

  2,869 $ 294,715 6.87% 50% 99% 
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ACQUISITIONS - 2011 

Property Address Municipality GLA (sf) (000s) 
Price 

($000s) 
Occupancy 

7867-7890 Express Street Vancouver, BC 182   $   40,000  100% 

1 Rutherford Court Guelph, ON 101 6,050 100% 

9255 194
th

 Street Surrey, BC 185  18,380  100% 

80 Rooney Crescent Moncton, NB 81  5,074  100% 

7660 Vantage Way Delta, BC 73 9,600  100% 

5645 70th Street Edmonton, AB 139  28,775  100% 

Ontario / Alberta Portfolio GTA, ON / Calgary, Edmonton, AB 832  70,145  95% 

1725 Inkster Boulevard Winnipeg, MB 266 15,100 100% 

20-30 Milburn Road Hamilton, ON 62 3,104 100% 

12557 Coleraine Drive Caledon, ON 208 22,325 100% 

  2,130 $  218,554 98% 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, PIRET sold its interest in an investment property, located in 

Calgary, AB for gross proceeds of $6.1 million, less standard closing costs and adjustments of $0.2 million.  The 

Trust repaid the mortgage on this property of $2.3 million at this time, resulting in net proceeds of $3.6 million 

and a gain on sale of $2.1 million.   

The weighted average occupancy rate was 97.6% for all properties owned as at December 31, 2012.  The lease 

terms are between one and twenty-five years and most of the leases that will expire within the next three 

years have at least one renewal option for another five years. 

The geographic diversification of PIRET’s portfolio as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 is outlined 

below: 

 Number of properties GLA (sf) (000s) 

 2012 2011 2012 2011 

British Columbia 11   7  1,642  619  

Alberta 26  18  1,425  1,015  

Saskatchewan 3   3  161  161  

Manitoba 7   5  646 425  

Ontario 36  25  2,724 1,535  

Quebec 2   2 214  214  

New Brunswick 2   2  112  112  

 87  62  6,924   4,081  

 

  



MANAGEMENT‘S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

10 

DETERMINATION EVENT 

On May 31, 2011, a Determination Event as defined in the Declaration of Trust occurred, as a result of 

the Trust's market capitalization exceeding $200,000,000 for a period of 10 consecutive trading days.  Upon 

the occurrence of the Determination Event, the number of Class A units into which the Class B units may be 

converted was fixed at 2,535,118.    

In addition, subsequent to the Determination Event, Class A units and Class B units will be equally subordinate 

and will also have identical features.  In accordance with IFRS, both the units have met the criteria to be 

treated as equity and will no longer be classified as financial liabilities. 

INTERNALIZATION 

Effective June 1, 2011, PIRET internalized its asset and property management and entered into employment 

agreements for the Co-Chief Executive Officers, a Chief Operating Officer, a Chief Financial Officer, and several 

other key employees.   

Prior to the internalization, Sunstone Industrial Advisors Inc. (“Sunstone Industrial”) provided PIRET with 

advisory, asset management and administrative services pursuant to an Asset Management Agreement 

entered into in June, 2007 upon the establishment of the REIT.  Each of PIRET’s new officers were employed 

by Sunstone Industrial and have extensive knowledge of PIRET’s business and affairs.  No fees or penalties 

were paid to Sunstone Industrial upon termination of the Asset Management Agreement. 

JANUARY 2012 OFFERING 

On January 26, 2012, PIRET completed a bought deal offering of 8,280,000 Units, inclusive of 1,080,000 Units 

issued pursuant to the exercise in full of the over-allotment option, on a bought deal basis, at a price of $4.20 

per Unit, for gross proceeds of $34,776,000 (the “January 2012 Offering”). 

Proceeds from the January 2012 Offering were used to acquire properties located at 7830 Vantage Way, Delta, 

British Columbia, 925 and 927-931 Brock Road, Pickering, Ontario, 1345 Redwood Avenue, Winnipeg, 

Manitoba, and 2440 Winston Park Drive, Oakville, Ontario.  The following tables provide a description about 

PIRET’s previous disclosure regarding the proposed use of proceeds of the January 2012 Offering, as described 

in PIRET’s short form prospectus dated January 20, 2012, available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, and its actual 

use of such proceeds, including purchase prices (before closing adjustments), mortgage proceeds and balance 

of funds to complete the acquisitions. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Proposed Use of Proceeds 
($000s) 

Purchase Price (Before 
Closing Adjustments) 

Estimated Mortgage 
Proceeds 

Estimated Balance 
Required to Close 

Assuming Exercise of 
Over-Allotment 

Option 

Proposed property purchases  $ 46,855  $ 27,078  $ 19,777 

Unallocated working capital - - 13,184 

Totals  $ 46,855  $ 27,078  $ 32,961 

 

Actual Use of Proceeds 
($000s) 

Purchase Price (Before 
Closing Adjustments) 

 
Mortgage Proceeds 

Balance Required to 
Close 

Property purchases to date  $ 46,855
 

 $ 20,882
 

 $ 25,973
 

Unallocated working capital
 

  -   -   6,988
 (2)

 

Totals  $ 46,855
(1) 

 $ 20,882
 

 $ 32,961 

MARCH 2012 OFFERING 

On March 1, 2012, PIRET completed a bought deal offering of 7,000,000 Units at a price of $4.50 per Unit, for 

gross proceeds of $31,500,000 (the “March Base Offering”).  On March 14, 2012, PIRET completed the 

issuance of 703,100 Units at a price of $4.50 per Unit for gross proceeds of $3,163,950, pursuant to the partial 

exercise of the over-allotment option (the “March Over-Allotment”, and together with the March Base 

Offering, the “March 2012 Offering”).    

PIRET did not identify any properties for purchase in the use of proceeds section of its short form prospectus 

dated February 24, 2012, available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, relating to the March 2012 Offering.  

Proceeds from the March 2012 Offering were used to acquire the properties located at: 230 Barmac Drive, 

North York, Ontario, 515 Welham Road, Barrie, Ontario, 12155 – 154
th

 Street, Edmonton, Alberta, 2030 Notre 

Dame, Winnipeg, Manitoba, 6800 Rexwood Road, Mississauga, Ontario, and 15 Turbo Drive, Edmonton, 

Alberta.  The following table provides a description about PIRET’s actual use of proceeds, including purchase 

prices (before closing adjustments), mortgage proceeds and balance of funds to complete the acquisitions. 

Actual Use of Proceeds 
($000s) 

Purchase Price (Before 
Closing Adjustments) 

 
Mortgage Proceeds 

Balance Required to 
Close, including Partial 

Exercise of Over-
Allotment Option  

Property purchases to date  $ 47,375
 

 $ 17,347
 

 $ 30,028
 

Unallocated working capital
 

  -   -   4,636
 
 

Totals  $ 47,375
 

 $ 17,347
 

 $ 34,664 

SEPTEMBER 2012 OFFERING 

On September 12, 2012, PIRET completed a bought deal offering of 7,015,000 Units, inclusive of 915,000 Units 

issued pursuant to the exercise in full of the over-allotment option, on a bought deal basis, at a price of $4.95 

per Unit, for gross proceeds of $34,724,250 (the “September 2012 Offering”). 

Proceeds from the September 2012 Offering were used to acquire the properties located at:  7303-7403 30th 

Street SE, Calgary, Alberta, 120 Trillium Drive, Kitchener, Ontario, 845 Laurentian Drive and 5330 South Service 

Road, Burlington, Ontario, 55 Doney Crescent, Ontario, 10501 Barlow Trail SE, Calgary, Alberta, 12311 – 17 

Street NE, Edmonton, Alberta, 30 – 53016 Highway 60, Acheson, Alberta, 15602 – 94 Street, Grand Prairie, 

Alberta, and 13511 Vulcan Way, Richmond, British Columbia.  The following tables provide a description about 

PIRET’s previous disclosure regarding the proposed use of proceeds of the September 2012 Offering, as 

http://www.sedar.com/
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described in PIRET’s short form prospectus dated September 5, 2012, available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, 

and its actual use of such proceeds, including purchase prices (before closing adjustments), mortgage 

proceeds and balance of funds to complete the acquisitions. 

Proposed Use of Proceeds 
($000s) 

Purchase Price (Before 
Closing Adjustments) 

Estimated Mortgage 
Proceeds 

Estimated Balance 
Required to Close 

Assuming Exercise of 
Over-Allotment 

Option 

Proposed property purchases  $ 91,550  $ 59,508  $ 32,042 

Unallocated working capital - - 1,043 

Totals  $ 91,550  $ 59,508  $ 33,085 

 

Actual Use of Proceeds 
($000s) 

Purchase Price (Before 
Closing Adjustments) 

 
Mortgage Proceeds 

 
Balance Required to 

Close 

Property purchases   $ 91,550  $ 52,250
 

 $ 39,300
 

Funded from working capital
 

-   -   (6,215) 

Totals  $ 91,550  $ 52,250
 

 $ 33,085 

DECEMBER 2012 OFFERING 

On December 12, 2012, PIRET completed a bought deal offering of 10,530,000 Units, on a bought deal basis, at 

a price of $4.75 per Unit, for gross proceeds of $50,017,500 (the “December Base Offering”).  On December 

14, 2012, PIRET completed the issuance of 963,900 Units at a price of $4.75 per Unit for gross proceeds of 

$4,578,525, pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-allotment option (the “December Over-Allotment”, 

and together with the December Base Offering, the “December 2012 Offering”).   

Proceeds from the December 2012 Offering were used to acquire the properties located at: 16131 and 16133 

Blundell Road, Richmond, British Columbia, 170 Clairville Drive, Toronto, Ontario, 3408 – 76
th

 Avenue NW, 

Edmonton, Alberta, and 13055 80
th

 Avenue, Surrey, British Columbia.  The following tables provide a 

description about PIRET’s previous disclosure regarding the proposed use of proceeds of the December 2012 

Offering, as described in PIRET’s short form prospectus dated December 4, 2012, available on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com, and its actual use of such proceeds, including purchase prices (before closing adjustments), 

mortgage proceeds and balance of funds to complete the acquisitions. 

Proposed Use of Proceeds 
($000s) 

Purchase Price (Before 
Closing Adjustments) 

Estimated Mortgage 
Proceeds 

Estimated Balance 
Required to Close 

Assuming Exercise of 
Over-Allotment 

Option 

Proposed property purchases  $ 113,560  $ 61,525  $ 52,035 

Unallocated working capital - - 2,884 

Totals  $ 113,560  $ 61,525  $ 54,919 

 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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Actual Use of Proceeds 
($000s) 

Purchase Price (Before 
Closing Adjustments) 

 
Mortgage Proceeds 

Balance Required to 
Close 

Property purchases to date  $ 113,560
 

 $ 57,200
 

 $ 61,525
 

Unexercised portion of over-allotment option
 

  -   -   323 

Funded from working capital
 

  -   -   (6,929) 

Totals  $ 113,560
 

 $ 57,200
 

 $ 54,919 

OUTLOOK 

PIRET’s management has successfully delivered consistent results for 2012 by focusing on our core values: 

actively managing our portfolio; maintaining high occupancy levels through our diversified tenant base; and 

prudently managing the Trust’s balance sheet by maintaining a loan to value ratio at 51.9%, much lower than 

our Declaration of Trust’s maximum of 70% loan to value.   

As with other public issuers, PIRET has been exposed to the recent volatility in the public markets.  

Management believes this volatility is not a reflection of the overall condition of the Canadian Industrial Real 

Estate markets and believes that 2013 will see PIRET continue its consistent and conservative growth. 

PIRET’s tenant and industry diversification increased substantially in 2012. Management believes this, along 

with the quality tenants that make up the portfolio, long term leases and conservative balance sheet will allow 

the Trust to manage through the current market uncertainty.  

There continues to be a robust pipeline of quality acquisitions coming to market and PIRET continues to be 

one of a small number of preferred buyers.  As previously noted, there is continuing capital flowing into the 

real estate markets, particularly from pension fund and institutional investors for the larger portfolio 

transactions.  Despite this increased capital flow, management has not seen a dramatic compression in 

capitalization rates. 

PIRET’s geographic areas of focus continue to be the Greater Toronto Area, the lower mainland of BC and 

Alberta, with a secondary focus on the other major Canadian centres on an opportunistic basis. 

Management continues to believe that superior returns can be achieved by targeting properties in primary 

industrial markets across Canada.  PIRET intends to acquire properties in clusters and asset sizes that will 

ensure regional economies of scale and geographic diversification in its portfolio.  

The Trust focuses on acquiring industrial assets with strong tenant bases, low vacancy rates and existing long-

term leases.  In addition to providing cash flow stability, these higher quality tenants typically require fewer 

resources to manage individual properties.  Furthermore, PIRET intends to acquire properties that are in good 

to superior physical condition with little to no required capital expenditures. 
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SECTION II 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

Year ended December 31 Three months ended December 31 

($000s, except per unit basis) 2012  2011  2012  2011  

Revenues: 

  

  

 

Rental and recoveries  $ 52,340  $ 34,933  $ 15,493  $ 11,204 

     

Property recoverable operating expenses: 

  

  

 

Insurance 459 233 121 90 

 

Management fees 1,276 702 396 358 

 

Recoverable operating costs 2,028 827 781 403 

  Property taxes 8,999 5,931 2,685 2,006 

    12,762 7,693 3,983 2,856 

Earnings from property operations  39,578  27,240 11,510 8,348 

Other income (expenses) 

  

  

 

General and administrative expenses (2,724) (1,163) (1,194) (295) 

 Valuation adjustment from investment 

properties 

5,071 7,353 (896) 12,669 

 

Gain on disposal of properties 2,055 - - - 

    4,402 6,190 (2,090) 12,374 

Net earnings before net finance cost 43,980  33,430 9,420 20,722 

 

Finance income  329  209 77 104 

  Finance costs (13,146) (20,344) (3,897) (3,123) 

 

Net finance cost (12,817) (20,135) (3,820) (3,019) 

Net earnings and comprehensive income   $ 31,163  $ 13,295  $ 5,600  $ 17,703   

   

  

 Class A units – Weighted average (000s)  67,273 44,415 75,756 50,424 

 Basic net earnings per unit  $ 0.45  $ 0.28  $ 0.07                 $ 0.33 

   

  

 Class A units – Diluted weighted average (000s)    69,853 46,974 78,382 53,070 

 

Basic net earnings per unit  $ 0.45  $ 0.28  $ 0.07                $ 0.33 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, PIRET reported net earnings of $31.2 million from 87 properties, 

compared to a net earnings of $13.3 million in 2011 from 62 properties.  The Trust’s indebtedness ratio 

decreased to 51.9% at December 31, 2012 from 55.7% at December 31, 2011 and its distribution payout ratio 

on Distributable Income of 87.2% for the year ended December 31, 2012 is consistent with 87.3% in 2011.  For 

further clarity, the Trust’s indebtedness ratio is defined as the ratio between the Trust’s indebtedness, 

meaning any obligation of the Trust for borrowed money but excluding trade accounts payable, distributions 

to unitholders and short term acquisition credit facilities, and the gross book value of the assets of the Trust.  

This ratio is further defined under the Capital Structure section.  The Trust defines distribution payout ratio as 

the percentage of Distributable Income that is paid out to unitholders. 

Due to the new acquisitions, both rental revenue and recoverable expenses increased during the year ended 

December 31, 2012 compared with those in the same period of the prior year.  Earnings from property 

operations increased by 45% during the year ended December 31, 2012 compared with net operating earnings 



MANAGEMENT‘S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

15 

during the year ended December 31, 2011.  Investment properties and mortgages payable also increased 

accordingly mainly due to the new acquisitions. 

RENTAL AND RECOVERIES REVENUE 

Rental and recoveries revenue from investment properties includes all amounts earned from tenants related 

to lease agreements, such as basic rent, operating cost recoveries, management fee recoveries, and property 

tax recoveries.  Property management fees are based on either a fixed or variable percentage of basic rent, 

operating costs, or property taxes and are recognized when earned in accordance with the lease agreements.   

FINANCE INCOME 

Finance income includes interest revenue which was earned from bank deposits at the Trust and the property 

level.  Interest revenue increased due to the increase in cash balances held during the period. 

PROPERTY RECOVERABLE OPERATING EXPENSES 

Property recoverable operating expenses include costs relating to such items as cleaning, building repairs and 

maintenance, elevator, HVAC, insurance, property taxes, utilities and property management fees among other 

items, which can be recovered from tenants.  The following table illustrates recoverable operating expenses as 

a percentage of total property recoverable operating expenses: 

 Year ended December 31 Three months ended December 31 

 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Insurance 3.6% 3.0% 3.0% 3.1% 

Management fees 10.0% 9.1% 9.9% 12.5% 

Recoverable operating costs 15.9% 10.8% 19.6% 14.1% 

Property taxes 70.5% 77.1% 67.4% 70.2% 

 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

MORTGAGE INTEREST EXPENSE 

Mortgage interest expense is included in finance costs.  The weighted average interest rate on the mortgages 

is 4.46% per annum as at December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 – 4.95%) and the mortgages mature 

between 2013 and 2032 with a weighted average mortgage term of 5.8 years (December 31, 2011 – 5.01 

years).   

PIRET refinanced 8 mortgages secured by 8 separate properties from the Canadian Urban portfolio in Alberta 

and Ontario for $23 million.  The new 5 year term mortgages were obtained at a lower rate of interest at 

3.45% per annum, compared to a weighted average of 5.15%.   

PIRET refinanced the mortgage at 4907-32
nd

 Street SE, Calgary, AB in November 2012.  The original mortgage 

maturing in November 2012 was extended to November 2017, at a reduced rate from 5.67% to 3.92% with the 

same lender commencing December 2012.   

PIRET also refinanced the mortgages at 2808-58
th

 Avenue SE, Calgary, AB and 16295-132
nd

 Avenue NW, 

Edmonton, AB in November 2012.  The original mortgages maturing in December 2012 were extended to 

December 2017, at a reduced rate from 5.754% to 3.92% with the same lender commencing December 2012.   

PIRET intends to refinance any mortgages which mature within the year. 
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INCOME TAXES 

PIRET is subject to tax under Part I of the Income Tax Act on its income for tax purposes for the year, including 

net realized taxable capital gains, less the portion thereof that it deducts in respect of the amounts paid or 

payable in the period to Trust unitholders.  The Trustees intend to distribute all taxable income to unitholders 

and to deduct such distribution for Canadian income tax purposes.  Therefore, no provision for income taxes is 

required on income earned by the Trust. 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

General and administrative expenses are primarily comprised of compensation expense, trustee fees, 

directors and officers liability insurance, professional fees, legal fees, filing fees, and administrative expenses.  

Compensation expense includes trustee fees, non-cash compensation from the restricted unit plan, as well as 

the salaries of the Trust’s employees. The increase in compensation expense is primarily due to a net increase 

in headcount as at December 31, 2012 and expenses incurred for a full 12 months compared to 7 months in 

2011 due to the internalization of management.  Professional fees include audit fees, and internal control 

service fees paid to third parties.  Administrative expenses include office rent, office related expenditures, and 

bank charges.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, total general and administrative expenses amounted to 

5.2% of rental revenue (2011 – 3.3%).  The future growth of the Trust, including the number of properties and 

personnel, are expected to result in increased salaries and management fees.  Management fees represent 

property recoverable operating expenses for the Trust. The Trust’s tenant leases provide that its tenants will 

pay the Trust management fees based on fixed values and/or variable costs relating to square footage, gross 

revenue, etc., depending on that particular tenant.  As the Trust’s portfolio grows, management fees are 

expected to increase accordingly. 

Unit based compensation expense in the amount of $157,164 was recorded in the statement of loss and 

comprehensive income in relation to the restricted units and distribution restricted units issued as at 

December 31, 2012, compared to a unit based compensation recovery of $65,613 being recorded in the prior 

year.  The unit based compensation payable represents the fair value of the restricted units granted to the 

independent trustees since the commencement of the Trust in August 2007 to March 2010 and restricted 

units granted to employees in August 2012.  Commencing 2011, trustees received cash compensation every 

quarter. 

The following table illustrates Trust expenses as a percentage of overall general and administrative expenses: 

 Year ended December 31 Three months ended December 31 

 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Insurance 1.3% 3.3% 0.6% 4.3% 

Professional fees 14.3% 24.2% 12.0% 32.6% 

Legal and filing fees 9.2% 14.0% 8.5% 7.9% 

Compensation expenses 55.9% 33.2% 60.0% 22.3% 

Admin expenses 10.1% 25.0% 9.1% 32.7% 

Others expenses 9.2% 0.4% 9.8% 0.2% 

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

As a percentage of rental revenue 5.2% 3.3% 11.5% 2.6% 
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FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENT TO INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

As the Trust revalues its investment properties at fair value each reporting date, it records the fair value 

adjustments as an income or expense item.  For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Trust had a fair value 

adjustment credited to income of $5.1 million (2011 – $7.4 million).  The positive fair value adjustment to 

investment properties was due to the improving market conditions experienced by industrial real estate 

during the past year. 

OFFERING COSTS 

Offering costs are the costs incurred by the Trust that relate to the issuance of Class A units, which are 

included in finance costs.  During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Trust incurred offering costs of $7.8 

million (December 31, 2011 – $5.3 million).  Subsequent to the Determination Event on May 31, 2011, offering 

costs are charged to equity. 

DISTRIBUTIONS 

The Trust announced monthly distributions of $0.025 per unit for the first ten months of 2012.  On November 

8, 2012, the Trustees approved an increase to its monthly distribution to unitholders to $0.026 commencing 

with the November 2012 distribution.  On an annualized basis, the distribution will be $0.312 per unit.  During 

the year ended December 31, 2012, distributions totaled $20.7 million to Class A unitholders and $0.8 million 

to Class B unitholders (December 31, 2011 - $13.7 million to Class A, $0.7 million to Class B). 

DISTRIBUTABLE INCOME 

PIRET uses Distributable Income (“DI”) to measure its ability to earn and distribute cash to unitholders.  DI is a 

non-IFRS
1
 measurement and should not be construed as an alternative to net earnings determined in 

accordance with IFRS as an indicator of the Trust’s performance.  DI as computed by PIRET may differ from 

similar computations as reported by other similar business entities and, accordingly, may not be comparable 

to DI as reported by such business entities.  DI does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS.  

Management calculates DI by adding to or deducting the following items from net cash from operating 

activities: non-cash working capital items, proceeds or repayment of notes payable, and interest expenses. 

  

                                                                 

1
 Non-IFRS measures do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by PIRET’s IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to 

similar measures presented by other issuers.   
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 Year ended December 31 Three months ended December 31 

($000s, except per unit basis) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

   

  

Net cash provided from operating activities  $ 40,431  $ 26,383  $ 13,008  $ 8,840 

Adjustment: 

  

  

Changes in non-cash operating working 

capital 

(4,813) (1,681) (3,214) (1,112) 

Accrued rental revenue 2,136 1,729 787 503 

Interest expense (13,147) (9,993) (3,897) (3,123) 

Distributable Income  $    24,607  $ 16,438   $ 6,684  $ 5,107 

Class A units 23,729 15,642 6,472 4,862 

Class B units  878 796 212 245 

Distributions to Unitholders 

  

  

Class A units   $ 20,686  $ 13,658  $ 5,952  $ 3,782 

Class B units  766 695 195 190 

Total distributions paid  $ 21,451  $ 14,353  $ 6,147  $ 3,972 

Total distributions paid as a % of 

Distributable Income 

87.2% 87.3% 92.0%  77.8% 

Weighted average number of units (000s) 

  

  

Class A units 67,273 44,415 75,756 50,424 

Class B units 279  279 279 279 

Diluted weighted average number of units 

(000s)   

  

Class A units 69,853  46,974 78,382 53,070 

Class B units 279 279 279 279 

Basic DI per unit 

  

  

Class A units   $ 0.35  $ 0.35  $ 0.09  $ 0.10 

Class B units    3.15   2.85   0.76   0.88 

Diluted DI per unit 

  

  

Class A units    0.35   0.35   0.09   0.10 

Class B units    3.15    2.85   0.76   0.88 

Distributions paid per unit 

  

  

Class A units    0.31   0.30   0.08   0.08 

Class B units    2.74   2.49   0.70   0.68 

PIRET may distribute to unitholders on each distribution date such percentage of the DI of PIRET for the month 

immediately preceding the month in which the distribution date falls, as the Trustees may determine at their 

discretion.  Currently, the Trustees intend to make an annual cash distribution to unitholders of $0.312 per 

unit.  Monthly distributions will be paid on the distribution date to unitholders of record on the last business 

day of such month.  

The Trustees look beyond quarter-to-quarter fluctuations in working capital when making decisions regarding 

monthly distributions.  As a result, management believes that the measure of DI, which excludes the impact of 

changes in non-cash working capital, is a better measure for determining operating performance.  

Management believes that the calculation of Standardized Distributable Cash, defined as cash flow from 

operations, distorts the Trust’s quarter-to-quarter distributable cash and payout ratios, as non-cash operating 

working capital fluctuates. 

For the purpose of this MD&A, management defines “Diluted DI per unit” as Distributable Income divided by 

the diluted weighted average number of units outstanding. 
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STANDARDIZED DISTRIBUTABLE CASH 

The following is a reconciliation of the Trust’s DI to standardized distributable cash. 

 
Year ended  

December 31 
Three months ended  

December 31 
($000s) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Distributable income  $     24,607  $ 16,438  $ 6,684  $ 5,107 

Straight line rent adjustment (2,136) (1,729) (787) (503) 

Interest expense 13,147 9,993 3,897 3,123 

(Increase) Decrease in amounts receivable and 
prepaid expenses 

(829) (672) 190 1,602 

Increase (Decrease)  in rental deposits 935 847 237 (131) 

Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities 

4,707 1,506 2,787 (358) 

Standardized Distributable Cash 
(net cash from operating activities) 

 $ 40,431  $ 26,383  $ 13,008  $ 8,840 

SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

The Trust has 7 reportable segments, which are: British Columbia (BC), Alberta (AB), Saskatchewan (SK), 

Manitoba (MB), Ontario (ON), Quebec (QC), and New Brunswick (NB).  For each of the geographic locations, 

the Co-Chief Executive Officer (“Co-CEOs”) reviews operations based on earnings from property operations by 

geographic location, which is presented below. 

Statement of net income and comprehensive income 

Year ended December 31, 2012         

 ($000s)  BC  AB SK  MB  ON  QC NB  Corp Total 

Revenues          

Rental and recoveries  $ 8,402 $ 15,301 $ 1,620  $ 4,698  $ 18,762 $ 2,388  $ 1,169  $ -  $ 52,340 

          

Property recoverable operating expenses        

Insurance  80  67  25  43  213  23  8  -  459 

Management fees  152  326  11  174  577  16  20  -  1,276 

Recoverable operating costs  56  424  10  308  1,096  1  133  -  2,028 

Property taxes  1,062  1,869  151  786  4,113  730  288  -  8,999 

  1,350  2,686  197  1,311  5,999  770  449  -  12,762 

Earnings from property operations  7,052  12,615  1,423  3,387   12,763   1,618   720   -  39,578 

Other income (expense):          

General and administrative  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (2,724)  (2,724) 

Gain on sale of investment properties  - 2,055  -  -  -  -  - -  2,055 

Fair value adjustment to investment properties  (1,355)  799  2,155  (122)  3,575  (49)  68  -  5,071 

  (1,355)  2,854  2,155  (122)  3,575  (49)  68  (2,724)  4,402 

Net earnings before finance costs  5,697  15,469  3,578  3,265   16,338   1,569   788  (2,724)  43,980 

Finance costs          

Finance income  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  329  329 

Finance costs  (2,727)  (4,427)  (457)  (999)  (3,670)  (686)  (100)  (80)  (13,146) 

Net finance costs  (2,727)  (4,427)  (457)  (999)  (3,670)  (686)  (100)  249  (12,817) 

Net income and comprehensive income  $ 2,970  $ 11,042 $ 3,121  $ 2,266  $ 12,668 $ 883  $ 688  $ (2,475)  $ 31,163 
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Year ended December 31, 2011         

 ($000s)  BC  AB SK  MB  ON  QC NB  Corp Total 

Revenues          

Rental and recoveries  $ 6,950  $11,352 $ 1,669  $ 2,332  $ 9,412 $ 2,331  $ 887  $ -  $ 34,933 

          

Property recoverable operating expenses        

Insurance  36  56  1  26  91  20  3  -  233 

Management fees  96  194  12  70  307  12  11  -  702 

Recoverable operating costs  61  211  4  162  331  4  54  -  827 

Property taxes  1,062  1,329  152  400  2,112  688  188  -  5,931 

  1,255  1,790  169  658  2,841  724  256  -  7,693 

Earnings from property operations  5,695  9,562  1,500  1,674   6,571   1,607   631   -  27,240 

Other income (expense):          

General and administrative  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,163)  (1,163) 

Fair value adjustment to investment properties  2,665  3,534  (195)  (78)  (1,347)  1,721  1,053  -  7,353 

  2,665  3,534  (195)  (78)  (1,347)  1,721  1,053  (1,163)  6,190 

Net earnings before finance costs  8,360  13,096  1,305  1,596   5,224   3,328   1,684  (1,163)  33,430 

Finance costs          

Finance income  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  209  209 

Finance costs  (2,228)  (3,515)  (394)  (409)  (2,325)  (512)  (94)  (10,867)  (20,344) 

Net finance costs  (2,228)  (3,515)  (394)  (409)  (2,325)  (512)  (94)  (10,658)  (20,135) 

Net income and comprehensive income  $ 6,132  $ 9,581 $ 911  $ 1,187  $ 2,899 $ 2,816  $ 1,590  $ (11,821)  $ (13,295) 

The following pie charts illustrate the greater diversification in the geographic contribution of the Trust’s 

earnings from property operations from 2011 to 2012 with an increase in the percentages for British 

Columbia, Alberta, and Ontario. 

Other information from statement of financial position 
     

December 31, 2012 

($000s) 

 BC  AB SK  MB  ON  QC NB  Corp Total 

Investment properties $ 208,230  $ 227,366  $ 12,300  $ 48,158 $ 217,394 $ $ 20,935  $ 9,485  $ -  $ 743,868 

Total assets  209,581    228,434   12,356   49,494   220,587   21,153   9,551   7,982   759,138 

Mortgages payable and bank loans  113,633   117,349   7,892   23,996   109,377   12,369   1,459   7,800   393,875 

Total liabilities  115,313    118,484   7,908   25,204   114,294   12,685   1,498   10,767   406,153 

 
December 31, 2011 

($000s) 

 BC  AB SK  MB  ON  QC NB  Corp Total 

Investment properties  $93,455  $ 147,645  $ 12,300  $ 29,405  $ 126,336  $ 20,935  $ 9,405  $ -  $ 439,481 

Total assets   93,945   148,681   12,301   29,913   127,489   21,261   9,518   4,804   447,912 

Mortgages payable and bank loans   51,915   86,179   8,272   12,954   72,772   12,676   1,502   3,228   249,498 

Total liabilities   52,386   87,150   8,293   13,350   74,776   13,054   1,536   5,046   255,591 
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FINANCIAL CONDITION 

ASSETS 

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

Investment properties are stated at fair value.  Fair value adjustments to investment properties arising from 

changes in fair values are included in the statement of net earnings and comprehensive income in the year 

which they arise.   

The current properties remain relatively new with estimated useful lives between 20 to 58 years and should 

require minimal capital expenditures in the near future. 

The mortgages and bank loans are secured by the investment properties and held by separate legal entities.  

The mortgage obligations are satisfied by rent received from each property.  

STRAIGHT LINE RENT RECEIVABLE 

Certain leases call for rental payments that increase over their terms.  Straight line rent receivable records the 

rental revenue from these leases on a straight-line basis, resulting in accruals for rents that are not billable or 

due until future years.  During the year ended December 31, 2012, PIRET accrued $2.1 million in rental 

revenue (December 31, 2011 - $1.7 million).  Straight line rent receivable is included within investment 

properties on the balance sheet. 

LEASING COSTS 

Leasing costs include leasing commissions and lease related costs, which were paid to real estate brokers or 

lawyers for leasing services.  They are capitalized to the carrying amount of investment properties when 

incurred and then considered in the fair value adjustment of the investment properties at the next reporting 

date. 

MORTGAGE RESERVE FUND  

The mortgage reserve fund consists of cash on deposit that was requested by lenders to be retained in escrow 

either pending expiry of the right to terminate in-place leases or to pay for any and all reasonable leasing 

costs.  These funds will be released once certain conditions are met, but no later than the maturity of the 
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mortgages.  As at December 31, 2012, the term for the current mortgage reserve fund is less than 5 years.  

The amortized cost of the mortgage reserve fund is $1,126,793 as at December 31, 2012 (2011 - $928,836).   

PREPAID EXPENSES 

Prepaid expenses consist of insurance and property taxes. 

LIABILITIES 

PIRET’s Declaration of Trust limits the indebtedness of the Trust to a maximum of 70% of the gross book value 

of the Trust.  The gross book value is defined as the total book value of the assets plus accumulated 

depreciation and amortization in respect of such assets.  The indebtedness is 51.9% of the gross book value as 

at December 31, 2012 (2011 – 55.7%). 

MORTGAGES PAYABLE 

The mortgages bear interest at a weighted average effective rate of 4.46% as at December 31, 2012 (2011 – 

4.95%) and mature between 2013 and 2032.  The scheduled mortgage payments, principal maturities and 

weighted average effective rate are as follows: 

Year ended December 31 

 

($000s) 

Weighted 

Average 

Effective Rate 

Scheduled 

Principal 

Repayment

s 

Principal 

Maturities 

Total 

Repayments 

2013 5.95%  $ 10,436  $ 4,920  $ 15,356 

2014 4.57% 10,601 6,108 16,709 

2015 4.95% 9,688 48,381 58,069 

2016 4.44% 8,386 57,889 66,275 

2017 3.87% 6,630 74,134 80,764 

2018 4.84% 4,834 23,542 28,376 

2019 3.72% 4,662 16,976 21,638 

2020 4.60% 3,285 31,813 35,098 

2021 5.07% 2,142 27,807 29,949 

2022 4.08% 1,551 22,245 23,796 

Thereafter 4.86% 10,027 299 10,326 

 4.46%  $ 72,242  $ 314,114 386,356 

Unamortized mortgage transaction costs    (2,376) 

Unamortized mark to market mortgage adjustment    2,095 

      $ 386,075 
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CLASS A UNITS AND CLASS B UNITS 

As at December 31, 2012, PIRET has 88,917,888 Class A units and 278,947 Class B units outstanding.  The 

following table illustrates the changes in Class A units for 2012.   

Date Issuance Class A units 

Price per 

Unit 

Total Gross 

Proceeds 

January 1, 2012 Class A units outstanding 50,423,903   

January 26, 2012 Issue Class A units – 1,080,000 over-allotment 8,280,000   $   4.20 $  34,776,000 

March 1, 2012 Issue Class A units 7,000,000  4.50  31,500,000 

March 14, 2012 Issue Class A units – over-allotment 703,100  4.50  3,163,950 

May 28, 2012 Trustees redemption of vested restricted units 57,694 4.46  257,315 

June 28, 2012 Trustee redemption of vested restricted units 18,357  4.64  85,176 

July 18, 2012 Unitholder redemption of Class A units (94,900)  4.40  (417,560) 

September 12, 2012 Issue Class A units – 915,000 over-allotment 7,015,000 4.95 34,724,250 

November 13, 2012 Issue Class A units 20,834 4.80 100,003 

December 12, 2012 Issue Class A units 10,530,000 4.75 50,017,500 

December 27, 2012 Issue Class A units – over-allotment 963,900 4.75 4,578,525 

December 31, 2012 Class A units outstanding 84,917,888    

UNIT BASED COMPENSATION  

The Trust has a restricted unit plan (the “Plan”) for the Trustees and employees.  The Plan provides for the 

grant of restricted units to participants (who may be Trustees, key management, key employees or 

consultants).  Each restricted unit will give the participant the right to receive, upon vesting, an amount equal 

to the fair market value of the units on the payment date, either by way of a cash payment or by the Trust 

acquiring units in the open market, or from treasury, and distributing them to the participant, at the Trust’s 

option.  As distributions are paid on units, additional restricted units will be credited to the participants in an 

amount determined by dividing the dollar amount of the distributions payable by the fair market value per 

unit on the date of the distribution.  As well, the number of restricted units granted to a participant may be 

increased by a “performance factor” established by the Trustees at the time of grant.  The “performance 

factor” was designed to reward participants based on the performance of the Trust’s units relative to a 

comparable REIT index, such as the S&P/TSX Capped REIT Index.  Unless otherwise determined by the 

Trustees, restricted units will vest and become available for redemption on the third anniversary of their being 

granted, or on a change of control or take-over bid for the Trust.  Restricted units vested must be redeemed 

not later than December 31 in the year of vesting.  However, the restricted units granted to a participant and 

any associated distribution restricted units shall not vest, and the participant shall not be entitled to such 

restricted units or associated distribution restricted units if the performance criteria, which are specified in the 

grant agreements, are not met.  

Under IFRS, liabilities related to PIRET’s restricted unit plan are included in the unit based compensation 

accrual account and measured at fair value at the grant date and re-measured each reporting date.  The fair 

value changes are recorded within general and administrative expenses on the statements of net income and 

comprehensive income.  The unit based compensation accrual has a $283,387 balance as at December 31, 

2012 (December 31, 2011 - $468,716).  PIRET expensed $157,164 (December 31, 2011 - $65,613 recovery) 

compensation expense during the period ended December 31, 2012 under the restricted unit plan.  
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BANK LOANS 

On January 11, 2010, PIRET established a revolving operating line of credit with a lender in the amount of 

$250,000, bearing interest at the lender’s prime rate plus 1.75%, with a minimum of 4% per annum.  The line 

of credit is secured by 90 Park Lane, Winnipeg, MB.  In April 2010, the bank increased the operating line of 

credit to $750,000, with the same rate and terms.  PIRET had drawn down nil as at December 31, 2012 

(December 31, 2011 - $nil). 

In April 2011, PIRET secured three separate operating lines with a financial institution.  First, PIRET established 

a demand operating credit line with a bank, secured by 310 De Baets Street, Winnipeg, MB, with a credit limit 

of $5.0 million, bearing interest at prime rate plus 1% per annum.  The second demand operating credit line 

was secured by 1 Rutherford Court, Guelph, ON, with a credit limit of $3.9 million, bearing interest at prime 

rate plus 1% per annum.  Lastly, PIRET established a demand operating credit line, secured by 80 Rooney 

Crescent, Moncton, NB with a credit limit of $3.3 million, bearing interest at prime rate plus 1% per annum.  

As at December 31, 2012, $7.8 million has been withdrawn and outstanding (December 31, 2011 - $3.2 

million).   

In November 2012, PIRET secured a demand operating line with a financial institution, secured by 7830 

Vantage Way, Richmond, BC, with a credit limit of $2,800,000, bearing interest at prime rate plus 1% per 

annum.  As at December 31, 2012, PIRET had not drawn down on the operating line.   

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS AND ADJUSTED FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS 

Funds from operations (“FFO”) is a non-IFRS measure and should not be construed as an alternative to net 

earnings determined in accordance with IFRS.  However, FFO is an operating performance measure which is 

widely used by the real estate industry and the Trust has calculated FFO in accordance with the 

recommendations of the Real Property Association of Canada (“REALpac”).  Since the REALpac FFO definition 

does not capture the impact of classifying the Trust’s unitholders’ equity as a liability, PIRET added back the 

unit offering costs and distributions expenses.   PIRET’s method of calculating FFO may differ from other 

companies and accordingly may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. 

The use of FFO, combined with the required IFRS presentations, has been presented for the purpose of 

improving the understanding of operating results of REITs by the investing public and in making comparisons 

of REIT operating results more meaningful. 

As FFO excludes depreciation, amortization, future income taxes and gains and losses from property 

dispositions, it provides a performance measure that, when compared period over period, reflects the impact 

on operations of trends in occupancy levels, rental rates, operating costs and realty taxes; acquisition 

activities; and interest costs, and provides a perspective of financial performance that is not immediately 

apparent from net earnings determined in accordance with IFRS. 

FFO is a widely accepted supplemental measure of financial performance for real estate entities; however, it 

does not represent amounts available for capital programs, debt service obligations, commitments or 

uncertainties.  FFO should not be interpreted as an indicator of cash generated from operating activities and is 

not indicative of cash available to fund operating expenditures, or for the payment of cash distributions.  FFO 

is simply one measure of operating performance. 
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Adjusted funds from operations (“AFFO”) is also a non-IFRS measure and should not be construed as an 

alternative to net earnings determined in accordance with IFRS.  However, AFFO is widely accepted as a 

performance measurement tool in the real estate industry.  AFFO is calculated by adjusting the FFO for 

accrued rental revenue relating to straight-line rents, non-cash compensation items, and capital expenditures.  

PIRET’s method of calculating AFFO may differ from other companies and accordingly may not be comparable 

to similar measures presented by other companies. 

The following table provides the analysis of PIRET’s FFO and AFFO performance: 

 
Year ended 

December 31 
Three months ended  

December 31 

($000s, except per unit basis) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Net earnings  $ 31,163  $ 13,295  $ 5,600  $ 17,703 

Adjustment: 

  

  

Amortization of mortgage transaction costs 422 220 133 59 

Fair value adjustment to investment 

properties 

(5,071) (7,353) 896 (12,668) 

Gain on sale of investment property (2,055) - - - 

Trust unit offering costs - 5,263 - - 

Distributions to unitholders - 5,087 - - 

Non-recurring items 300 - 300 - 

Funds from operations  $ 24,759  $ 16,512  $ 6,929  $ 5,094 

Unit based compensation expenses 157 (66) 57 49 

Straight line rent adjustment (2,136) (1,729) (787) (503) 

Capital expenditures (772) (226) (456) (95) 

Adjusted funds from operations  $ 22,008  $ 14,491  $ 5,743  $ 4,545 

     
Weighted average number of units (000s)     

Class A units 67,273 44,415 75,756 50,424 

Class B units 279 279 279 279 

Diluted weighted average number of units 

(000s) 

    

Class A units 69,853 46,974 78,382 53,070 

Class B units 279 279 279 279 

FFO per unit - Basic 

  

  

Class A units  $ 0.36  $ 0.35  $ 0.09  $ 0.10 

Class B units   3.17   2.87   0.79   0.87 

FFO per unit - Diluted 

  

  

Class A units   0.35   0.35   0.09   0.10 

Class B units   3.17   2.87   0.79   0.87 

Payout Ratio on FFO  86.6%  86.9%   88.7%   78.0% 

AFFO per unit - Basic 

  

  

Class A units  $ 0.32  $ 0.31  $ 0.07  $ 0.09 

Class B units   2.82   2.52   0.65   0.78 

AFFO per unit – Diluted 

  

  

Class A units   0.32   0.31   0.07   0.09 

Class B units   2.82   2.52   0.65   0.78 

Payout Ratio on AFFO  97.5%  99.0%   107.0%   87.4% 
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The following is a reconciliation of the Trust’s FFO to cash provided by operations:  

 
Year ended  

December 31 
Three months ended  

December 31 
($000s) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Funds from operations  $ 24,759  $ 16,512  $ 6,929  $ 5,094 

Amortization of discount on mortgage reserve 

fund 

(9) (9) (2) (2) 

Unit based compensation expense 157 (66) 57 16 

Straight line rent adjustment (2,136) (1,729) (787) (503) 

Increase in amounts receivable and prepaid 

expenses 
(829) (671) 190 1,602 

Increase in rental deposits 935 847 237 (131) 

Increase in accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 
4,707 1,506 2,787 (358) 

Net finance cost 13,147 9,993 3,897 3,123 

Non-recurring items (300) - (300) - 

Net cash provided from operating activities  $ 40,431  $ 26,383  $ 13,008  $ 8,840 

CAPITAL RESOURCES 

The cash collected from issuing Class A units and Class B units, and the cash generated by investment 

properties represent the primary source of funds to fund total distributions to unitholders of $21.5 million for 

the year ended December 31, 2012 (2011 - $14.3 million).  

For the year ended December 31, 2012, cash provided by operations was more than cash distributions paid or 

payable.   Management expects that cash provided by operating activities will exceed cash distributions paid 

or payable.  However, management expects cash distributions to continually exceed net earnings due to non-

cash items which are deducted in determining net earnings.   

There are no significant working capital requirements that currently exist and there are no pending items that 

may affect liquidity.  There are no legal or practical restrictions on the ability of the Trust’s properties to 

transfer funds to the Trust. 

Proceeds from the issuance of units and conventional mortgage financing have been used mainly to fund 

property acquisitions.  PIRET intends to refinance any mortgages which mature within a year. 

Management expects to be able to meet all of the Trust’s ongoing obligations and to finance future growth 

through the issuance of units as well as by using conventional mortgages, short term financing from the bank 

and the Trust’s cash flow.  The Trust is not in default or arrears on any of its obligations including distribution 

payments, interest or principal payments on debt. 

In accordance with National Instrument 41-201, the Trust is required to provide additional disclosure relating 

to cash distributions. 
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Twelve months ended  

December 31 
Three months ended  

December 31 
($000s) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Cash provided by operating activities  $ 40,431  $ 26,383  $ 13,008  $ 8,840 

Actual cash distributions paid or payable   21,451   14,353 6,147 3,972 

Excess of cash provided by operating activities over 

cash distributions paid 
 $ 18,980  $ 12,030  $ 6,861  $ 4,868 

 

 
Twelve months ended  

December 31 
Three months ended  

December 31 
($000s) 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Net earnings   $ 31,163  $ 13,295  $ 5,600  $ 17,703 

Actual cash distributions paid or payable   21,451   14,353 6,147 3,972 

Surplus (Shortfall) of net earnings (loss) over cash 

distributions paid 
 $ 9,712  $ (1,058)  $ (547)  $ 13,731 

CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

The Trust defines capital as the aggregate of unitholders’ equity and long-term debt.  The Trust’s objectives in 

managing capital are to maintain a level of capital that: complies with investment and debt restrictions 

pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, complies with existing debt covenants, funds its business strategies and 

builds long-term unitholders’ value.  The Trust’s capital structure is approved by its unitholders as related to 

the Trust’s Declaration and by its board of trustees through its periodic reviews.  Capital adequacy is 

monitored by the Trust by assessing performance against the approved annual plan throughout the year and 

by monitoring adherence to investment and debt restrictions contained in the Declaration and debt 

covenants.   

The Declaration of Trust provides for a maximum indebtedness level of up to 70% of the gross book value.  

The term "indebtedness" means any obligation of the Trust for borrowed money (including the face amount 

outstanding under any convertible debentures and any outstanding liabilities of the Trust arising from the 

issuance of subordinated notes but excluding any premium in respect of indebtedness assumed by the Trust 

for which the Trust has the benefit of an interest rate subsidy), but excludes trade accounts payable, 

distributions payable to unitholders, accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business and short-

term acquisition credit facilities.  The Declaration of Trust defines “gross book value” as the book value of the 

assets of the Trust plus the amount of accumulated depreciation and amortization in respect of such assets 

(and related intangible assets), the amount of future income tax liability arising out of indirect acquisitions and 

excluding the amount of any receivable reflecting interest rate subsidies on any debt assumed by the Trust.  

The Trust’s indebtedness is 51.9% as at December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 – 55.7%). 

Having a relatively low indebtedness ratio is important in current economic conditions, which allows PIRET to 

access additional financing if necessary. 

The Declaration of Trust allows the Trustees, at their discretion, to distribute to the Trust’s unitholders in each 

year all or a portion of the Trust’s income for the year, as calculated in accordance with the Income Tax Act 

after all permitted deductions under the Act have been taken.  The board of trustees also reviews the cash 

distribution paid to unitholders on a regular basis.  The distribution to Trust unitholders was 0.025 per unit per 

month from January 1 to October 31, 2012 and 0.026 per unit from November 1 to December 31, 2012 

(January 1 to December 31, 2011 - 0.025 per unit per month). 
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The Trust is in compliance with all restrictions during the period ended December 31, 2012 and the year ended 

December 31, 2011. 

The capital structure consisted of the following components at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011. 

($000s) December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

Capital   

Units based compensation accrual  $ 283  $ 468 

Mortgages payable  386,075 246,270 

Class A units 341,247 190,145 

Class B units 1,116 1,116 

Accumulated earnings 10,771 1,060 

Total Capital  $ 739,492  $ 439,059 

The total capital of PIRET increased due to the issuance of new Class A units and the proceeds of new 

mortgages related to acquisitions, offset by the repayment of mortgage principal and distributions to 

unitholders during 2012. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

For certain of the Trust’s financial instruments, including cash, cash held in trust, amounts receivable, accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities, and the bank loans, the carrying amounts approximate their fair values due to 

the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. 

The fair value of the mortgage reserve fund is determined by discounting the future contractual cash flow 

under current mortgage agreements at a discount rate which represents the investment return rate that the 

Trust can earn.   

The fair values of amounts due for mortgages payable and notes payable are determined by discounting the 

future contractual cash flow under current financing arrangements at discount rates which represent 

borrowing rates presently available to the Trust for loans with similar terms and maturity.  Discount rates are 

either provided by the lenders or are observable on the open market. 

  December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

 ($000s)  Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value 

 

Mortgage reserve fund 

 $ 1,127  $ 1,111  $ 929  $ 913 

Mortgages payable 386,075 390,962 246,271 252,540 

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 

PIRET does not have any off-balance sheet items. 
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SECTION III 

SUMMARY OF SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

Year ended December 31 ($000s, except per unit basis) 2012  2011 2010  

2010  
  Basic rent  $ 40,272  $ 27,196  $ 11,749 

  Recoveries 12,068 7,737 2,590 

Total rental revenue from properties  $ 52,340  $ 34,933  $ 14,339 

Income before discontinued operations   31,163 13,295  $ (2,988) 

Net earnings (loss) and comprehensive income ( loss )   31,163 13,295 (2,988) 

    

Total assets   759,138 447,912 213,320 

Total long-term liabilities   373,310 212,267 194,082 

    

Distributions   21,451 14,353 6,303 

Per Class A unit     $ 0.31    $ 0.30    $ 0.30 

Class A units – Weighted average   67,272,962 44,414,946 18,885,290 

Basic net earnings (loss) per unit     $ 0.45    $ 0.28    $ (0.15) 

Class A units – Diluted weighted average   69,852,511 46,973,676 20,019,657 

Diluted net earnings (loss) per unit     $ 0.45    $ 0.28    $ (0.15) 

PIRET’s total assets have increased significantly over the last 3 years primarily due to the acquisition of 

investment properties.  At December 31, 2012, PIRET held 87 investment properties with 6,924,065 gross 

leasable square feet, compared to 62 investment properties with 4,080,523 gross leasable square feet at 

December 31, 2011.  The acquisitions of industrial investment properties were made by the Trust in primary 

markets within Canada and have strengthened PIRET’s high quality national and regional tenant base.     

Total rental revenue from properties is $52.3 million in 2012 compared to $34.9 million in 2011 and is 

reflective of the increase in investment properties coupled with strong occupancy rates of 98% and 99% in 

2012 and 2011 on all properties respectively.   

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

Total investment properties increased in the three months ended December 31, 2012 due to the acquisition of 

10 investment properties for a purchase price of $155.6 million.  Prepaid expenses increased in the three 

months ended December 31, 2012 due to the prepayment of property taxes.  Cash held in trust decreased 

significantly due to the repayment of deposits as a result of the ten completed acquisitions offset by new 

deposits paid for potential acquisitions.  The Trust’s cash balance decreased in the three months ended 

December 31, 2012 from $19.1 million to $9.8 million due to the acquisition of ten investment properties 

during the quarter and scheduled principal payments on mortgages offset by the bought deal financing 

completed on December 12, 2012, proceeds from four new mortgage financing transactions, proceeds from 

two assumed mortgage financing transactions, and operating cash flow from 87 properties generating positive 

cash.   

The Trust’s net earnings increased significantly in the three months ended December 31, 2012 compared to 

December 31, 2011 as a result of the overall increase in the Trust’s earnings from property operations.  PIRET 

earned rental revenue from 87 properties in the three months ended December 31, 2012, instead of 62 
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properties in the comparative period, which resulted in the Trust’s earnings from property operations 

increasing by 38% during the period.  During the three months ended December 31, 2012, other expenses 

decreased due to the fair value adjustment of investment properties and additional general and 

administrative expenses related to the Vancouver and Toronto offices.   

There are no fundamental changes in PIRET’s operations and all properties generate positive cash flows.  

Quarter ended  
($000s, except per unit basis) 

December 31,  
2012  

September 30,  
2012  

June 30,  
2012  

March 31,  
2012  

  Basic rent  $ 12,132  $ 10,061  $ 9,467  $ 8,613 

  Recoveries 3,361 3,277 2,712 2,718 

Total rental revenue from properties  $ 15,493  $ 13,338  $ 12,179  $ 11,331 

Property recoverable operating expenses  $ (3,983)  $ (3,190)  $ (2,930)  $ (2,659) 

Other income (expenses)   (2,090) 838 7,507 (1,854) 

Net earnings and comprehensive income   5,600 7,753 13,834 3,976 

Basic net earnings per unit     

Class A units    0.07 0.11  0.20  0.06 

Class B units   0.07 1.00  1.82  0.59 

 

Quarter ended 
($000s, except per unit basis) 

December 31, 
2011 

September 30, 
2011 

June 30,  
2011 

March 31,  
2011 

  Basic rent  $ 8,677  $ 7,628  $ 6,133  $ 4,758 

  Recoveries 2,527 2,355 1,646 1,209 

Total rental revenue from properties  $ 11,204  $ 9,983  $ 7,779  $ 5,967 

Property recoverable operating expenses  $ 2,856  $ 2,189  $ 1,472  $ 1,176 

Other income (expenses) 12,373 (7,794) (1,749) (2,161) 

Net earnings (loss) and comprehensive 

income ( loss ) 
17,703 2,736 (3,287) (3,857) 

Basic net earnings (loss) per unit     

Class A units   0.33  0.05  (0.07)  (0.07) 

Class B units  3.04  0.49  (0.59)  (0.59) 
 

Quarter ended 
($000s) 

December 31,  
2012  

September 30,  
2012  

June 30,  
2012  

March 31,  
2012  

Total assets  $ 759,138  $ 618,430  $ 541,346  $ 515,726 

Total liabilities 373,310 316,897 274,852 258,227 

Unitholders’ equity  352,985 301,533 266,494 257,499 

Investment properties 743,868 587,455 532,860 475,776 

Mortgages payable 386,075 308,044 266,681 251,193 

     

Quarter ended  
($000s) 

December 31, 
2011 

September 30, 
2011 June 30, 2011 March 31, 2011 

Total assets  $ 447,912  $ 430,327  $ 404,044  $ 277,078 

Total liabilities 255,591 253,528 226,205 285,718 

Net liabilities attributable to unitholders - - - (8,640) 

Unitholders’ equity 192,321 176,799 177,839 - 

Investment properties 439,481 424,326 383,791 270,196 

Mortgages payable 246,270 246,268 218,905 150,285 
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SECTION IV 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 

the reporting period.  The Trust’s significant accounting policies are described in note 3 to the December 31, 

2012 audited financial statements 

The policies that are most subject to estimation and judgment are outlined below. 

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

The Trust acquires real estate properties in its normal course of business.  At the time of acquisition, the Trust 

considers whether or not the acquisition represents the acquisition of a business.  The Trust accounts for an 

acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of activities is acquired in addition to the 

property.  More specifically, consideration is made to the extent to which significant processes are acquired 

and, in particular, the extent of ancillary services provided by the property (e.g., maintenance, cleaning, 

security, bookkeeping, etc.). 

When the acquisition of a property does not represent a business, it is accounted for as an acquisition of a 

group of assets and liabilities.  The cost of the acquisition, including transaction costs, is allocated to the assets 

and liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair values, and no goodwill or deferred tax is recognized.   

All acquisitions to date by the Trust have been deemed to be asset acquisitions.   

LEASE CONTRACTS 

The Trust has entered into property leases on its investment property portfolio.  The Trust makes judgments in 

determining whether certain leases, in particular those leases with long contractual terms where the lessee is 

the sole tenant in a property and the Trust is lessor, are operating or finance leases.  The Trust must assess 

each lease separately and has determined that all of its leases of investment properties are operating leases. 

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 

Deferred income taxes are not recognized in the Trust`s financial statements on the basis that the Trust can 

deduct distributions paid such that its liability for income taxes is substantially reduced or eliminated for the 

year, and the Trust intends to continue to distribute its taxable income and continue to qualify as a real estate 

investment trust for the foreseeable future. 

UNIT BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE 

The Trust’s unit based compensation expense consists of units granted under its Restricted Unit Plan.  The 

units granted are measured at fair value each reporting period and recognized as a general and administrative 

expense over the vesting period.  Fair value is estimated by using the closing price of the unit and taking in 

account of expected forfeitures and the performance factor as defined in the Restricted Unit Plan.   
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VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

The fair value of the investment properties is determined by management, in conjunction with independent 

real estate valuation experts using recognized valuation techniques.   

The determination of the fair value of investment property requires the use of estimates such as future cash 

flows from assets (i.e. tenant profiles, future revenue streams and overall repair and condition of the 

property), discount rates applicable to those assets’ cash flows and capitalization rates.  These estimates are 

based on market conditions existing at the reporting date. 

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

PIRET’s significant accounting policies are described in note 3 to the December 31, 2012 audited financial 

statements. 

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

(a) IFRS 7 – Financial instruments: Disclosures, Amendments regarding Disclosures on Transfer of Financial 

Assets 

In December 2011, the IASB made amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and IFRS 7, 

Financial Instruments: Disclosures.  The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the requirements for offsetting 

financial instruments.  The amendments to IFRS 7 requires the Trust to disclose the relationship between 

financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety and the associated liabilities and to assess the 

risks associated with the Trust’s continued involvement with the derecognized financial asset.  The 

amended version of IAS 32 is effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2014.  The amended 

version of IFRS 7 is effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2013.  The adoption of amendments 

to IAS 32 and IFRS 7 are not expected to have a significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements.     

(b) IFRS 9 - Financial instruments 

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 which will replace IAS 39 - Financial instrument: Recognition 

and Measurements.  The new standard provides guidance on the classification and measurement of 

financial asset and financial liabilities and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2015.  The full impact of the changes in accounting for financial instruments will not be known until the 

IASB’s project has been completed. 

(c) IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements 

This new standard replaces IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and SIC 12, 

Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.  The new standard establishes principles for the presentation 

and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities.   

IFRS 10 is applicable to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The adoption of IFRS 10 is 

not expected to have a significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements.   

(d) IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

This new standard replaces IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures.  The new standard eliminates the option to 

proportionately consolidate interests in certain types of joint ventures.  IFRS 11 is applicable to annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.   The adoption of IFRS 11 is not expected to have a 

significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements.   



MANAGEMENT‘S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

33 

(e) IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

This new standard includes disclosure requirements about subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.  

Additional disclosures include judgments and assumptions made in determining how to classify 

involvement with another entity, interests that non-controlling interests have in the consolidated entities 

and the nature and risks associated with interests in other entities.  IAS 28, Investments in Associates, has 

been amended and will set the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting 

for investments in associates.  IFRS 12 is applicable to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2013.  The adoption of IFRS 12 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Trust’s financial 

statements.   

(f) IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurements 

IFRS 13, Fair value measurements defines fair value, establishes a single IFRS framework for measuring 

fair value and provides disclosure requirements for fair value measurements.  IFRS 13 is applicable to 

annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The adoption of IFRS 13 is not expected to have a 

significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements.   

(g) IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements 

Amendments have been made to IAS 1 to provide guidance on the presentation of items contained in 

other comprehensive income and their classification within the other comprehensive income.  This 

amendment is effective for the Trust’s reporting periods beginning January 1, 2013.  The adoption of the 

amendments to IAS 1 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Trust’s consolidated financial 

statements.   

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

As of December 31, 2012, management has evaluated the design and the operating effectiveness of the 

Trust’s Disclosure Controls and Procedures (“DC&P”) as defined by National Instrument 52-109.  This 

evaluation was performed under the supervision of and with the participation of the Co-CEO’s and the CFO.  

Based on this evaluation, management, being the Co-CEO’s and the CFO concluded that the design and 

operation of the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2012.   

INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

As of December 31, 2012, management has evaluated the design and the operating effectiveness of the 

Trust’s Internal Controls over Financial Reporting (“ICFR”) as defined by National Instrument 52-109.  This 

evaluation was performed under the supervision of and with the participation of the Co-CEO’s and the CFO.  

Based on this evaluation, management, being the Co-CEO’s and the CFO concluded that the design and 

operating effectiveness of ICFR were effective as of December 31, 2012.   

The Trust uses the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) internal 

control framework to design ICFR.  Due to its inherent limitations, ICFR may not prevent or detect 

misstatements on a timely basis as such systems can only be designed to provide reasonable as opposed to 

absolute assurance.  Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of ICFR to future periods are 

subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.   
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National Instrument 52-109 also requires Canadian public companies to disclose in their MD&A any change in 

ICFR during the most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 

affect, ICFR.  There were no changes in ICFR during the quarter ended December 31, 2012 that materially 

affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Trust’s ICFR.   

SECTION V 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

All income producing property investments are subject to a degree of risk and uncertainty.  They are affected 

by various factors including general market conditions and local market circumstances.  An example of general 

market conditions would be the availability of long-term financing whereas local conditions would relate to 

factors affecting specific properties in a particular geographic location, such as changes in market lease rates 

as a result of an over- supply of space or a reduction in demand for real estate.  Management attempts to 

manage these risks through geographic diversification in the Trust’s portfolio. 

In the normal course of business, the Trust is exposed to a number of risks that can affect its operating 

performance.  These risks, and the actions taken to manage them, are as follows:  

INTEREST RATE AND FINANCIAL RISK 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that the value of, or cash flows related to, a financial instrument 

will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates.  The Trust is exposed to financial risk from the 

interest rate differentials between the market rate and the rates used on these financial instruments. 

The Trust manages its financial instruments and interest rate risks based on its cash flow needs.  The Trust 

minimizes interest rate risk by obtaining long-term, fixed rate mortgages whenever possible.  It targets a 

conservative ratio of debt (including the face amount of any outstanding convertible debentures and any 

outstanding subordinated notes) to gross book value within the range of 60% to 65% and is restricted under 

the Declaration of Trust to a maximum of 70%.  Mortgages payable bear interest at fixed rates; therefore the 

Trust is not exposed to significant interest rate risk.  

CREDIT RISK 

The Trust is exposed to some credit risk with respect to the collection of rental revenue, but minimizes the risk 

by a thorough review of tenants’ credit histories and requesting adequate security deposits.  As at December 

31, 2012, trade receivables in the amount of $68,635 (2011 – $44,875) were 30 days past due.  Current 

receivables totaled only $198,657 (2011 - $459,117) due to billings to new tenants and will be collected during 

the next few months. 

RELIANCE ON SINGLE TENANT AND TENANT CONCENTRATION RISK 

Most of PIRET’s properties are single tenant properties.  The table below illustrates the Trust’s top 10 tenants 

as at December 31, 2012 by revenue: 
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Tenant 
Percentage of 

Revenue 
GLA 

 (000s) 

Average 
Lease Term 

 (years) 

1 TransForce 10.6% 307 17.4 

2 Containerworld 7.0% 484 4.6 

3 Tervita 6.7% 237 19.8 

4 Advance 4.0% 204 22.4 

5 RSAC 3.1% 240 7.5 

6 Weldco 3.1% 184 19.4 

7 Kingspan 2.7% 208 6.9 

8 Shanahan 2.5% 217 5.3 

9 Industrial Containers 2.4% 217 3.5 

10 Sauder/Masonite 2.3% 185 3.5 

  44.4% 2,483 12.8 

 Other 55.6% 4,441 5.8 

  100.0% 6,924 8.9 

In the event that the above-listed tenants were to terminate their tenancies or become insolvent, the financial 

results of PIRET would be materially and adversely affected.  PIRET has been able to diversify its tenant base in 

the past 2 years and become less reliant on any one single tenant.  Management has taken certain steps to 

mitigate any credit risk by closely monitoring the tenants’ compliance with the terms of their respective leases 

and to remedy any issues as soon as they are identified.   

CURRENCY RISK 

The Trust is not exposed to currency risk since there are no foreign subsidiaries and the Trust does not enter 

into foreign currency transactions. 

LEASE ROLLOVER RISK 

Lease rollover risk arises from the possibility that the Trust may experience difficulty renewing leases as they 

expire or in re-leasing space vacated by tenants upon lease expiry.  Management tries to sign long term leases 

to tenants to minimize lease rollover risk.  The occupancy rate is 98% as at December 31, 2012 (2011 – 99%) 

and lease terms are between one to twenty five years.  The leases which will expire over the next 3 years 

represent 17.4% of total square footage.  However, most of the leases expiring over the next 3 years have at 

least one renewal option for another 5 years. 
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PIRET’s lease expiries for all properties as at December 31, 2012 are as follows: 

 

 GLA 

 (000s)  

 % of Net 
leasable area  2013 374  5.4% 

2014 420  6.1% 

2015 405  5.9% 

2016 1,235  17.8% 

2017 851  12.3% 

2018 and thereafter 3,472  50.1% 

 6,757 97.6% 

Vacant 167 2.4% 

 

6,924  100.0% 

RESTRICTIONS ON REDEMPTIONS 

It is anticipated that the redemption right will not be the primary mechanism for Trust unitholders to liquidate 

their investments.  PIRET notes or debt securities which may be issued or distributed in specie to Trust 

unitholders in connection with redemption will not be listed on any stock exchange and no established market 

is expected to develop for such securities.  Such securities may be subject to an indefinite “hold period” or 

other resale restriction under applicable securities laws.  PIRET notes and debt securities so issued or 

distributed may not be qualified investments for deferred income plans.  Regulatory approvals will be required 

in connection with an issuance or distribution of PIRET notes or debt securities in specie to holders of units in 

connection with the redemption of units.  There are no notes or debt securities issued to unitholders as at 

December 31, 2012 or December 31, 2011.  

UNIT PRICES 

It is not possible to predict the price at which units will trade and there can be no assurance that an active 

trading market for the units will be sustained.  The units will not necessarily trade at values determined solely 

by reference to the value of the properties of PIRET.  Accordingly, the units may trade at a premium or 

discount to the value implied by the value of PIRET’s properties.  The market price for the units may be 

affected by changes in general market conditions, fluctuations in the markets for equity securities and 

numerous other factors beyond PIRET’s control.  

ENVIRONMENTAL RISK 

As an owner of real property, PIRET is subject to various federal, provincial and municipal laws relating to 

environmental matters.  Such laws provide that PIRET could be liable for the costs of removal of certain 

hazardous substances and remediation of certain hazardous locations.  The failure to remove or remediate 

such substances or locations, if any, could adversely affect PIRET’s ability to sell such real estate or to borrow 

using such real estate as collateral and could potentially result in claims against PIRET. 

Management carries out environmental inspections before a property is purchased.  In addition, most leases 

require tenants to conduct their businesses in accordance with environmental regulations and be responsible 

for liabilities arising out of any infractions.  Management is not aware of any material non-compliance with 

environmental laws with respect to the current portfolio and is not aware of any pending or threatened 

investigations or actions by environmental regulatory authorities in connection with the current portfolio. 

  



MANAGEMENT‘S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS 
DECEMBER 31, 2012 

37 

LIQUIDITY RISK 

Real property investments tend to be relatively illiquid, with the degree of liquidity generally fluctuating in 

relation to demand for and the perceived desirability of such investments.  Such illiquidity may tend to limit 

PIRET’s ability to vary its portfolio promptly in response to changing economic or investment conditions.  If 

PIRET were required to liquidate a real property investment, the proceeds to PIRET might be significantly less 

than the aggregate carrying value of such property. 

The Trust diligently monitors the repayment dates of its mortgages and intends to refinance all mortgages due 

within the next 12 months.  The mortgage due dates range from 2013 to 2032, with a weighted average 

remaining term of 5.8 years (December 31, 2011 – 5.0 years). 

The Trust’s scheduled payments are: 

Year ended December 31 
($000s) 

Accounts 
payable 

and other  
Rental 

Deposits 
Unit Based 

Compensation 
Bank 
loans 

Mortgage 
payments 
(principal 

and interest) Total 

       
2012  $ 9,154  $ 315  $ 233  $ 7,800  $ 32,188  $ 49,690 

2013 - 310 25 - 32,729 33,064 

2014 - 286 25 - 72,237 72,548 

2015 - 109 - - 77,741 77,850 

2016 - 156 - - 89,516 89,672 

Thereafter - 1,363 - - 168,561 169,924 

  $ 9,154  $ 2,539  $ 283  $ 7,800  $ 472,972  $ 492,748 

In 2012, PIRET financed the acquisition of twelve properties with new mortgages and also assumed four 

mortgages on the acquisition of four new properties. 

TAX RISK 

PIRET currently qualifies as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for Canadian income tax purposes.  Thus, 

PIRET is not subject to income tax as long as the Trust distributes all income earned by the Trust to unitholders 

annually.  If PIRET does not qualify or ceases to qualify as a REIT under the REIT exception, adverse 

consequences could arise including a non-deductible distribution amount being taxable to PIRET (with the 

result that the amount of cash available for distribution by PIRET would be reduced) and such amount also 

being included in the income of unitholders for purposes of the Tax Act as taxable dividends. 

There can be no assurances that Canadian federal income tax laws respecting the treatment of mutual fund 

trusts and of REITs will not be changed, or that administrative and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue 

Agency will not develop in a manner which adversely affects PIRET or its unitholders. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

PIRET is related to Sunstone Realty Advisors (2005) Inc., Sunstone Realty Advisors (2006) Inc., Sunstone 

Industrial Investments Inc., and Sunstone Industrial Advisors Inc. by virtue of having officers and directors in 

common.  There were no transactions among the above related parties and PIRET during the year ended 

December 31, 2012. 
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PIRET is related to a mortgage brokerage firm by virtue of having a trustee and director in common.  PIRET 

paid the firm $241,830 in mortgage brokerage fees during the year ended December 31, 2012 for the 

refinancing of 8 investment properties and new financing of 12 investment properties.  PIRET paid the firm a 

mortgage brokerage fee in the amount of $176,509 during the year ended December 31, 2011 for the 

financing of 4 mortgages.  It is management’s opinion that the mortgage brokerage fees are in line with 

current market rates. 

On April 15, 2011, PIRET acquired a property at 7660 Vantage Way, Delta, BC for $9,300,000 from Sunstone 

Opportunity (2007) Realty Trust, a related entity by virtue of having officers and directors in common.  It is 

management’s opinion that the acquisition price is in line with current market values, as evidenced by an 

appraisal performed by a third party. 

On April 12, 2012, pursuant to the purchase option in the loan agreement, the Trust exercised its option and 

acquired an investment property for $10,555,333, located at 2440 Winston Park Drive, Oakville, Ontario from 

2440 Winston Park Drive Limited Partnership (“Winston Park LP”), a related entity by virtue of having officers 

and directors in common.  The original option was restructured to allow the Trust to acquire the asset instead 

of the limited partnership units of Winston Park LP.  The property has a total rentable area of 94,988 square 

feet and is situated on 5.074 acres of land. 

Key management personnel have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 

activities of the Trust, directly or indirectly.  The Trust’s key management personnel include the Co-Chief 

Executive Officers, President, Chief Financial Officer, Vice President Operations, and Trustees.  Salaries, trustee 

fees, and other short-term employee benefits are accrued when earned and are as follows:  

 Year ended December 31 

($000s) 2012 2011 

Salaries, trustee fees, and other short-term employee benefits  $ 1,513  $ 529 

Unit-based compensation  157 (66) 

  $ 1,670  $ 463 

 

OUTSTANDING UNIT DATA 

Except as set out in the Declaration of Trust, no Class A unit or Class B unit has any preference or priority over 

another.  All units have equal voting rights at meetings of unitholders. 

In January 2011, PIRET issued 8,625,000 Class A units for a total of $34,500,000 in gross proceeds.  On May 17, 

2011, the Trust issued 14,605,000 Class A units on a bought deal basis at $4.10 per unit for gross proceeds of 

$59,880,500.  On August 15, 2011, 52,640 Class A units were issued to the Trustees upon conversion of their 

vested restricted units at a price of $3.93 per unit. 

On January 26, 2012, PIRET issued 8,280,000 Class A units on a bought deal basis at $4.20 for gross proceeds 

of $34,776,000.  On March 1, 2012, PIRET issued 7,000,000 Class A units on a bought deal basis at $4.50 for 

gross proceeds of $31,500,000.  On March 14, 2012, PIRET issued an additional 703,100 Class A units pursuant 

to the partial exercise of the over-allotment option granted to the syndicate of underwriters involved with the 

March 1, 2012 bought deal offering priced at $4.50 for gross proceeds of $3,163,950.  On May 28, 2012, 3 

Trustees redeemed their vested restricted units for 57,694 Class A units at a price of $4.46.  On June 28, 2012, 

a Trustee redeemed his vested restricted units for 18,357 Class A units at a price of $4.64.  On July 18, 2012, a 

unitholder redeemed 94,900 Class A units at a redemption price of $4.40 per unit for total redemption 
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payment of $417,560.  On September 12, 2012, PIRET issued 7,015,000 Class A units on a bought deal basis, 

inclusive of the exercise of the full over-allotment option for 915,000 Class A units at $4.95 for gross proceeds 

of $34,724,250.  On November 13, 2012, PIRET issued 20,834 Class A units to the Trust’s President at a price of 

$4.80 per unit representing $100,000 in compensation pursuant to his employment agreement with the Trust.  

On December 12, 2012, PIRET issued 10,530,000 Class A units priced at $4.75 per unit on a bought deal basis, 

for gross proceeds of $50,017,500.  On December 27, 2012, PIRET issued an additional 963,900 Class A units 

pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-allotment option granted to the syndicate of underwriters involved 

with the December 12, 2012 bought deal offering priced at $4.75 per unit for gross proceeds of $4,578,525. 

As at December 31, 2012, the total number of Class A units outstanding was 84,917,888 and the total number 

of Class B units outstanding was 278,947.  

As at December 31, 2012, the Trust has issued a total of 211,145 restricted units and 25,123 related 

distribution restricted units of which 151,045 restricted units and 9,172 distribution restricted units are 

outstanding.   

SECTION VI 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

(a) On January 24, 2013, PIRET successfully completed the acquisition of a multi-tenant, fully leased 

investment property located at 13055 80
th

 Avenue, Surrey, British Columbia for $4,600,000. 

(b) On January 24, 2013, PIRET completed the disposition of a single-tenant industrial property for gross 

proceeds of $8,300,000.  The property is located at 3500 Viking Way, Richmond, British Columbia.     

(c) On February 4, 2013, the Trust successfully completed the acquisition of a single-tenant, investment 

property located at 18111 Blundell Road in Richmond, British Columbia for $44,100,000.  The Trust 

obtained new mortgage financing of $28,600,000 at an interest rate of 4.33% per annum for a term of 10 

years related to the property.   

(d) On February 12, 2013, PIRET closed a public offering of 13,800,000 Class A units including 1,800,000 units 

issued pursuant to the exercise in full of the over-allotment option, on a bought deal basis, at a price of 

$5.05 per unit, for total gross proceeds of $69,690,000. 

(e) On February 14, 2013, the Trust successfully completed the acquisition of three investment properties for  

a total purchase price of $21,800,000.  The acquired properties consist of two single-tenants and one fully 

leased multi-tenant property, and are located at 11307 and 11329 – 166A Street NW, 12900 – 148
th

 Street 

NW and 11415 – 168
th

 Street NW, in Edmonton Alberta.  The Trust obtained new mortgage financing of 

$12,985,000 at an interest rate of 4.20% per annum for a term of 10 years related to the properties.   

(f) On February 20, 2013, the Trust successfully completed the acquisition of a fully leased multi-tenant 

income producing industrial property for $32,320,000.  The property is located at 16111 Blundell Road, 

Richmond, British Columbia.  The Trust obtained new mortgage financing of $22,000,000 at an interest 

rate of 3.90% per annum for a term of 7 years.   
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Additional information relating to PIRET, including PIRET’s most recent annual information form, is available 

on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or on PIRET’s website at www.piret.ca.  

  

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.piret.ca/
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

To the Unitholders of Pure Industrial Real Estate Trust (the “Trust”): 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, 

including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards and ensuring that all information in the annual report is consistent with the 

statements.  This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting principles and methods, and making 

decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required. 

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management 

designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable 

assurance that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly 

maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees of the Trust is responsible for overseeing management in the 

performance of its financial reporting responsibilities, and for recommending to the Board of Trustees to 

approve the financial information included in the annual report.  The Audit Committee fulfils these 

responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing relevant 

matters with management and external auditors.  The Audit Committee is also responsible for recommending 

the appointment of the Trust’s external auditors. 

KPMG LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, has been appointed by the Audit Committee to 

audit the financial statements and report directly to the Unitholders; their report follows.  The external 

auditors have full and free access to both the Audit Committee and management to discuss their audit 

findings. 

 

 

 

Darren Latoski     Stephen J. Evans 
Co-Chief Executive Officer    Co-Chief Executive Officer 
March 13, 2013 
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KPMG LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 

Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 

Canada 

Telephone  (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691-3031 
Internet www.kpmg.ca 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Unitholders of Pure Industrial Real Estate Trust 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Pure Industrial Real Estate Trust, which comprise the statements of financial 

position as at December 31, 2012, and 2011, the statements of net earnings and comprehensive income, changes in unitholders’ equity 

and net liabilities attributable to unitholders and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 

procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pure Industrial Real Estate Trust as 

at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Chartered Accountants 

March 13, 2013 

Vancouver, Canada 

 

PURE INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE TRUST 



 

44 

Statements of Financial Position 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 
December 31, 

 2012  
December 31, 

 2011  

     

ASSETS 

 

 

 Non-current assets:   

  Investment properties (note 4)  $ 743,868  $ 439,481 

  Mortgage reserve fund (note 5) 397 388 

   744,265 439,869 

    

 Current assets:   

  Loan receivable (note 15)   -  2,295 

  Mortgage reserve fund – current portion (note 5)  730  541 

  Amounts receivable and prepaid expenses  1,623  794 

  Cash held in trust (note 6)  2,674  225 

  Cash   9,846   4,188 

    14,873  8,043 

    $ 759,138  $ 447,912 

     

LIABILITIES   

 Non-current liabilities:   

  Unit based compensation (note 8)  $ 50  $ 196 

  Mortgages payable and bank loans (note 9)  370,720  210,466 

  Rental deposits  2,540  1,605 

    373,310  212,267 

    

 Current liabilities:   

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  9,455  4,020 

  Unit based compensation – current portion (note 8)  233  272 

  Mortgages payable and bank loans – current portion (note 9)  23,155  39,032 

    32,843  43,324 

    406,153 253,527,628  255,591 253,527,628 

UNITHOLDERS EQUITY  352,985 253,527,628  192,321 253,527,628 

   $ 759,138  $ 447,912 

 

Subsequent events (note 20) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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PURE INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE TRUST 

Statements of Net Earnings and Comprehensive Income 

 

Year ended December 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit basis) 2012 2011  

   Revenues: 

  

 

Rental and recoveries  $ 52,340  $ 34,933 

   

Property recoverable operating expenses: 

  

 

Insurance 459 233 

 

Management fees 1,276 702 

 

Recoverable operating costs 2,028 827 

  Property taxes 8,999 5,931 

    12,762 7,693 

Earnings from property operations 39,578 27,240 

Other income (expense): 

  

 

General and administrative (note 10) (2,724) (1,163) 

 Fair value adjustments to investment properties (note 4) 5,071 7,353 

 

Gain on disposal of investment property 2,055 - 

    4,402 6,190 

Net earnings before net finance costs 43,980 33,430 

 

Finance income (note 11) 329 209 

  Finance cost (note 11) (13,146) (20,344) 

 
Net finance cost (12,817) (20,135) 

Net earnings and comprehensive income   $ 31,163  $ 13,295 

   

 

Class A units – Weighted average 67,272,962 44,414,946 

 Basic net earnings per unit  $ 0.45  $ 0.28 

Class A units – Diluted weighted average 69,852,511 46,973,676 

 

Diluted net earnings per unit  $ 0.45  $ 0.28 

Class B units – Basic and diluted weighted average 278,947 278,947 

 Basic and diluted net earnings per unit  $ 4.06    $            2.31 

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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PURE INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE TRUST 

Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity and Net Liabilities Attributable to Unitholders 

 (thousands of Canadian dollars) Class A Units Class B Units 

Accumulated 
Earnings/ 
(Deficit) Total 

Net liabilities attributable to unitholders, 

January 1, 2011 
 $  -   $ -  $ (2,970)  $ (2,970) 

Extinguishment of Trust unit liabilities   189,972   1,116   -   191,088 

Issuance of Class A Trust units, net 173 - - 173 

Net earnings  - - 13,295 13,295 

Distributions to unitholders - - (9,265) (9,265) 

Balance, January 1, 2012   190,145   1,116   1,060   192,321 

Issuance of Class A Trust units, net 150,952 - - 150,952 

Net earnings  - - 31,163 31,163 

Distributions to unitholders - - (21,451) (21,451) 

Unitholders’ Equity, December 31, 2012  $ 341,097  $ 1,116  $ 10,772  $ 352,985 

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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PURE INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE TRUST 

Statements of Cash Flow 

 

Year ended December 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012  2011  

   
Operating activities:   
 Net earnings  $ 31,163  $ 13,295 
 Items not involving cash:   
 Amortization of discount on mortgage reserve fund (note 5)  (9) (10) 
 Amortization of mortgage transaction costs 422 220 
 Gain on sale of investment property (2,055) - 
 Unit based compensation expense 157 (66) 
 Fair value adjustments to investment properties (note 4) (5,071) (7,353) 
 Straight line rent adjustment  (2,136) (1,729) 
 Changes in non-cash working capital (note 19) 4,813 1,682 
 Net finance costs 13,146 9,993 
 Class A unit offering costs - 5,263 
 Distributions to unitholders - 5,088 

 Net cash provided from operating activities 40,431 26,383 
   
Financing activities:   
 Proceeds from mortgages 147,050 138,577 
 Payment of mortgage and loan transaction costs (1,157) (1,093) 
 Repayment of mortgages (8,606) (4,795) 
 Mortgage reserve funds (189) (541) 
 Redemption of restricted units (342) (207) 
 Proceeds from bank loans 4,572 388 
 Interest paid (13,367) (9,971) 
 Proceeds from issuance of Class A units 150,952 94,553 
 Payment of Class A unit offering costs - (5,263) 
 Distributions paid to unitholders  (20,501) (13,743) 

 Net cash provided from financing activities 258,412 197,905 
   
Investing activities:   
 Acquisition of investment properties, net of non-cash transactions (note 4) (298,163) (222,718) 
 Capital additions to investment properties (note 4) (772) (226) 
 Loan receivable repayment (advance) (note 15) 2,295 (2,295) 
 Cash held in trust (note 6) (2,449) 1,573 
 Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 5,904 - 

 Net cash used in investing activities (293,185) (223,666) 
 

 
 

Net change in cash 5,658 622 
Cash, beginning of year 4,188 3,566 
   

Cash, end of year  $ 9,846  $  4,188 

Non-cash investing and financing activities: 

   Distributions to unitholders in the amount of $2,273,778 were accrued as at December 31, 2012 (2011 - 
$1,323,976) and were paid in January 2013 (2011 – January 2012).  

 During the year ended December 31, 2012, PIRET assumed four mortgages in the amount of $70,838,349, upon the 
acquisition of four investment properties.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, PIRET assumed nine 
mortgages in the amount of $27,318,652 upon the acquisition of nine investment properties.   

 An unamortized fair value adjustment of $2,094,743 is included in the mortgages payable balance.    

 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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1. Reporting entity: 

Pure Industrial Real Estate Trust (the “Trust” or “PIRET”) is an unincorporated open-ended trust formed 

under and governed by the laws of the Province of British Columbia and created pursuant to the Trust 

Declaration dated June 24, 2007, and amended on November 18, 2010.  PIRET was established for the 

purposes of acquiring, owning and operating a diversified portfolio of income producing industrial 

properties in primary markets across Canada.  The Trust’s head office is located at 910 – 925 West 

Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3L2, Canada. 

PIRET’s primary objectives are: (a) to generate stable and growing cash distributions from investments in 

income producing industrial properties in primary markets across Canada; (b) to maximize the long-term 

value of the properties through active management; and (c) to expand its asset base and increase its 

distributable income through an accretive acquisition program. 

2. Basis of presentation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Trustees on March 8, 2013. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following 

material items in the statement of financial position: 

 investment properties are measured at fair value; 

 liabilities for cash-settled unit based compensation arrangements are measured at fair value. 

The preparation of these financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires management to exercise judgment in the process of applying the Trust’s 

accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 

assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 2(d). 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Trust’s functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 

reported amounts of income, expenses, assets and liabilities.  Actual results may differ from these 

estimates. 
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(i) Judgments 

In the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

critical judgments: 

a. Asset acquisitions: 

The Trust acquires real estate properties in its normal course of business.  At the time 

of acquisition, the Trust considers whether or not the acquisition represents the 

acquisition of a business.  The Trust accounts for an acquisition as a business 

combination where an integrated set of activities is acquired in addition to the 

property.  More specifically, consideration is made to the extent to which significant 

processes are acquired and, in particular, the extent of ancillary services provided by 

the property (e.g., maintenance, cleaning, security, bookkeeping, etc.). 

When the acquisition of a property does not represent a business, it is accounted for 

as an acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities.  The cost of the acquisition, 

including transaction costs, is allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based 

upon their relative fair values, and no goodwill or deferred tax is recognized.   

All acquisitions to date by the Trust have been deemed to be asset acquisitions.   

b. Lease contracts: 

The Trust entered into property leases on its investment property portfolio.  The Trust 

makes judgments in determining whether certain leases, in particular those leases 

with long contractual terms where the lessee is the sole tenant in a property and the 

Trust is lessor, are operating or finance leases.  The Trust assesses each lease 

separately and has determined that all of its leases of investment properties are 

operating leases. 

(ii) Estimates 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 

any future periods affected.  The significant areas of estimation include the following: 

a. Deferred income taxes: 

Deferred income taxes are not recognized in the Trust`s financial statements on the 

basis that the Trust intends to continue to distribute all of its taxable income and 

qualifies as a real estate investment trust for the foreseeable future. 

b. Unit based compensation expense: 

The Trust’s unit based compensation expense consists of units granted under its 

Restricted Unit Plan.  The units granted are measured at fair value each reporting 

period and recognized as a general and administrative expense over the vesting 

period.  Fair value is estimated by using the closing price of the unit and taking in 
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account of expected forfeitures and the performance factor as defined in the 

Restricted Unit Plan (note 11). 

c. Valuation of investment properties: 

The fair value of the investment properties is determined by management, in 

conjunction with independent real estate valuation experts using recognized 

valuation techniques.   

The determination of the fair value of investment property requires the use of 

estimates such as future cash flows from assets (i.e. tenant profiles, future revenue 

streams and overall repair and condition of the property), discount rates applicable to 

those assets’ cash flows and capitalization rates.  These estimates are based on 

market conditions existing at the reporting date. 

(e) Standards issued but not yet effective: 

(i) IFRS 7 – Financial instruments: Disclosures, Amendments regarding Disclosures on Transfer of 

Financial Assets 

 In December 2011, the IASB made amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation 

and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures.  The amendments to IAS 32 clarify the 

requirements for offsetting financial instruments.  The amendments to IFRS 7 require the Trust 

to disclose the relationship between financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety 

and the associated liabilities and to assess the risks associated with the Trust’s continued 

involvement with the derecognized financial asset.  The amended version of IAS 32 is effective 

for annual periods beginning January 1, 2014.  The amended version of IFRS 7 is effective for 

annual periods beginning January 1, 2013.  The adoption of and amendments to IAS 32 and 

IFRS 7 are not expected to have a significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements.     

(ii) IFRS 9 - Financial instruments: Classification and Measurement 

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 which will replace IAS 39 - Financial instrument: 

Recognition and Measurement.  The new standard provides guidance on the classification and 

measurement of financial asset and financial liabilities and is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2015.  The full impact of the changes in accounting for 

financial instruments will not be known until the IASB’s project has been completed. 

(iii) IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements 

 This new standard replaces IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and SIC 

12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.  The new standard establishes principles for the 

presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one 

or more other entities.   IFRS 10 is applicable to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2013.  The adoption of IFRS 10 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Trust’s 

financial statements.   
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(iv) IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

 This new standard replaces IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures.  The new standard eliminates 

the option to proportionately consolidate interests in certain types of joint ventures.  IFRS 11 is 

applicable to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.   The adoption of IFRS 11 is 

not expected to have a significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements.   

(v) IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

 This new standard includes disclosure requirements about subsidiaries, joint ventures and 

associates.  Additional disclosures include judgments and assumptions made in determining 

how to classify involvement with another entity, interests that non-controlling interests have 

in the consolidated entities and the nature and risks associated with interests in other entities.  

IAS 28, Investments in Associates, has been amended and will set the requirements for the 

application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates.  IFRS 12 is 

applicable to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The adoption of IFRS 12 is 

not expected to have a significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements.   

(vi) IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement 

 IFRS 13, Fair value measurement defines fair value, establishes a single IFRS framework for 

measuring fair value and provides disclosure requirements for fair value measurements.  IFRS 

13 is applicable to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  The adoption of IFRS 

13 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements.   

(vii) IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements 

 Amendments have been made to IAS 1 to provide guidance on the presentation of items 

contained in other comprehensive income and their classification within the other 

comprehensive income.  This amendment is effective for the Trust’s reporting periods 

beginning January 1, 2013.  The adoption of the amendments to IAS 1 is not expected to have a 

significant impact on the Trust’s financial statements.    

3. Significant accounting policies: 

(a) Investment property acquisitions: 

Where property is acquired, management considers the substance of the assets and activities of the 

acquired entity in determining whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of a property or a 

business combination.  The basis of the judgment is set out in note 2. 

The Trust has determined that all investment properties are asset acquisitions.   

(b) Investment properties: 

Investment properties comprise property held to earn rental revenue or for capital appreciation or 

both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or 

services or for administrative purposes.  Investment property is measured initially at cost including 

acquisition costs.  Acquisition costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal services and 
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initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable of 

operating.  

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value with any change 

therein recognized in income.  The Trust defines fair value to be the value a third party is willing to 

pay, in an arm’s length transaction, for an investment property.  Therefore, the fair value of recently 

acquired investment property would be the purchase price.  Any subsequent valuations performed 

on an investment property, after acquisition date, would be the new basis for the fair value recorded 

on the investment property.   

Capital additions to investment properties are capitalized to the carrying amount of investment 

properties when incurred and then considered in the fair value adjustment of the investment 

properties at the next reporting date.     

To avoid double counting of assets, PIRET includes the straight line rent receivable in the fair value of 

investment property instead of recognizing it as a separate asset. 

As set out in Note 2, in arriving at their estimates of market values, management will determine 

whether a property in its portfolio of investment properties requires an independent appraisal.  If an 

independent appraisal is judged not to be required, management will determine the market value of 

the investment property using the approaches described below. Management, along with the 

appraisers, use their market knowledge and professional judgment and do not rely solely on historical 

transactional comparisons. 

The following approaches, either individually or in combination, are used by management, together 

with the appraisers, in their determination of the fair value of the investment properties: 

 The Income Approach derives market value by estimating the future cash flows that will be 

generated by the property and then applying an appropriate capitalization rate or discount rate 

to those cash flows.  This approach can utilize the direct capitalization method and/or the 

discounted cash flow analysis. 

 The Direct Comparison Approach involves comparing or contrasting the recent sale, listing or 

optioned prices of properties comparable to the subject and adjusting for any significant 

differences between them. 

Management reviews each independent appraisal and ensures that the assumptions used by the 

appraisers are reasonable and that the final fair value amount reflects those assumptions used in the 

various approaches above.   

The significant assumptions used by management in estimating the fair value of investment property 

are set out in note 4. 

Investment property is derecognized when it has been disposed of or permanently withdrawn from 

use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.  Any gains or losses on the 

retirement or disposal of investment property are recognized in the statement of earnings and 

comprehensive income in the year of retirement or disposal. 
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Gains or losses on the disposal of investment property are determined as the difference between net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset on the date the transaction occurred.  

(c) Revenue recognition: 

Rental revenue is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term subject to 

collectability being reasonably assured.   

Revenue includes recoveries of specified operating expenses, in accordance with the terms of the 

lease agreements.  Recoveries are recognized in the period in which the related operating expense 

was incurred and collectability is reasonably assured. 

(d) Finance income and finance costs: 

Finance income consists of interest and other income, which is recognized in the period in which it is 

earned. 

Finance costs consist of mortgage interest, interest expense on loans, Class A and Class B unit offering 

costs, and distributions to Class A and Class B unitholders.  Finance expenses are recognized in the 

period in which they are incurred. From June 1, 2011, the distributions to the Class A and Class B 

unitholders were recorded in the Statement of Unitholders’ equity as a result of the reclassification of 

the Class A and B units from liabilities to equity.  

(e) Cash: 

Cash consists of cash on hand and cash held at banks. 

(f) Leases: 

Leases are classified according to the substance of the transaction to determine whether substantially 

all the risks and benefits of ownership in the investment property has been transferred.  All tenant 

leases where the Trust is the lessor in its leasing arrangement have been determined to be operating 

leases.   

(g) Leasing costs: 

Leasing costs are comprised of leasing commissions and legal fees.  They are capitalized to the 

carrying amount of investment properties when incurred and then considered in the fair value 

adjustment of the investment properties at the next reporting date. 

(h) Income taxes: 

PIRET qualifies as a mutual fund trust (“MFT”) for Canadian tax purposes under Part I of the Income 

Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”).  PIRET intends to distribute all of its taxable income to unitholders 

and to deduct such distributions for income tax purposes.  Canadian income tax obligations relating 

to distributions of PIRET are the obligations of the unitholders.  Accordingly, no provision has been 

made for Canadian Income taxes under Part I of the Tax Act. 

The Tax Act levies tax on certain trusts and partnerships that are “specified investment flow-through 

entities” (“SIFTs”)in defined circumstances, with an exemption for entities that qualify as “real estate 
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investment trusts” (“REITs”).  A trust that meets prescribed conditions for REITs under the Act is not 

subject to the tax on SIFTs.  The Trust’s management has determined that the Trust met all the 

prescribed conditions to qualify as REIT and as a “mutual fund trust” throughout the year.  The Trust 

intends to distribute all taxable income to unitholders and to deduct such distributions for Canadian 

income tax purposes.  The Trust also intends to continue to operate in a manner so as to qualify as a 

REIT and as an MFT.  

(i) Unit based compensation: 

The Trust uses the fair value based method of accounting for its restricted unit plan. Compensation 

expense is recorded as general and administrative expense. 

(j) Segment reporting: 

The Trust operates only industrial investment properties in the primary markets in Canada. The 

primary format for segment reporting is based on geographic region and is consistent with the 

internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker, determined to be the co-chief 

executive officers. 

(k) Net earnings per unit: 

Basic net earnings per Class A and Class B unit have been calculated based on the proportion of the 

earnings allocated to the respective class of units, and the respective weighted average number of 

Class A units and Class B units outstanding.   

Diluted net earnings per Class A unit have been calculated by adjusting the weighted-average number 

of Class A units and Class B units related to the Trust’s unit based compensation plan.   

(l) Fair value: 

Fair value measurements recognized in the statement of financial position are categorized in 

accordance with the following levels:  

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). 

Each type of fair value is categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement in its entirety. 
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(m) Financial instruments: 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities: 

Non-derivative financial assets and non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognized at 

fair value, and their subsequent measurement is dependent on their classification as described 

below.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were 

acquired or issued, their characteristics, and the Trust’s designation of such instruments. 

The Trust classifies its financial instruments as follows:  

Cash  Loans and receivables 

Cash held in trust Loans and receivables 

Amounts receivable Loans and receivables 

Mortgage reserve fund Loans and receivables 

Mortgages payable Other financial liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities 

Bank loans Other financial liabilities 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market.  Amounts receivable and mortgage reserve fund are classified as 

loans and receivables.  These assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly 

attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition they are accounted for at 

amortized cost, using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

The Trust has the following non-derivative financial liabilities.  Mortgages payable, accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities, and bank loans, are recognized initially at fair value plus any 

directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition these financial 

liabilities are accounted for at amortized cost, using the effective interest method.  Effective 

May 31, 2011, Class A and Class B units are recorded as equity in the statement of unitholders’ 

equity, and are no longer recorded as liabilities. 

(ii) Impairment of financial assets: 

At each reporting date, the Trust assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 

asset is impaired.  If a financial asset carried at amortized cost is impaired, the amount of the 

loss is measured as the difference between the amortized cost of the loan or receivable and 

the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s 

original effective interest rate.  The loss is recognized in Impairment expense. 

(n) Provisions: 

Provisions are recognized by the Trust when:  i) the Trust has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of past events; ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 

settle the obligation; and iii) the amount can be reasonably estimated.  If the time value of money is 

material, provisions are discounted using a current rate that reflects the risk profile of the liability, 

and the increase to the provision due to the passage of time will be recognized as a finance cost. 
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4. Investment properties: 

Investment properties comprise a number of industrial properties that are leased to third parties. The 

leases range from 3 to 25 years and there are no contingent rentals. 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, PIRET acquired 26 investment properties for a total price of 

$296,810,076, plus standard closing costs and adjustments of $3,447,519 resulting in a total purchase 

price of $300,257,595.   

One of the portfolio acquisitions relating to two properties was financed with cash and the assumption of 

two mortgages bearing a rate of interest at 5.28% and 3.98%.  As the stated rate of the assumed 

mortgages is greater than the current market rate of interest, an adjustment of $2,094,743 was 

determined to increase the assumed mortgage to market value and has been included in the 

determination of the cost of this acquisition.  The mark to market adjustment of the assumed mortgages 

is amortized over the remaining terms of 60 months and 86 month terms of the mortgages on an effective 

interest rate basis, which reduces the effective interest rate over the current term of the mortgages.   

During the year ended December 31, 2012, PIRET sold its interest in an investment property, located in 

Calgary, AB for gross proceeds of $6,094,471, less standard closing costs and adjustments of $203,218.  

The Trust repaid the mortgage on this property of $2,316,193 at this time, resulting in net proceeds of 

$3,575,060 and a gain on sale of $2,054,556. 

 Year ended December 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Balance, beginning of period  $ 439,481  $ 207,455 

Acquisitions 300,258 222,718 

Capital additions  772 226 

Disposals (3,850) - 

Straight line rent adjustment 2,136 1,729 

Fair value adjustment to investment properties 5,071 7,353 

Balance, end of period  $ 743,868  $ 439,481 

 

$698,779,716 of the Trust’s investment properties are pledged as security against the mortgages payable 

and bank loans. 

The Trust selectively obtains appraisals for various properties at each reporting date.  During the year 

ended December 31, 2012, the Trust obtained independent appraisals for 51% of the investment 

properties December 31, 2012 carrying value.  The appraisals were obtained for 12 investment properties 

already owned as well as appraisals on all 26 investment properties acquired.  The appraisals were 

performed by accredited independent appraisers with recognized and relevant professional qualifications 

and with recent experience in the location and category of the investment property being valued.  

Management reviews each appraisal and ensures that the assumptions used are reasonable and the final 

fair value amount reflects those assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the properties.   

Management undertook its own valuation process on the remaining investment properties to review 

specific indicators (i.e. market conditions, discount rate changes, etc.) and determine whether a change in 

fair value has occurred. 
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In arriving at their estimates of fair values, management and the independent appraisers have used their 

market knowledge and professional judgment and did not rely solely on historical transactional 

comparisons.   

(a) Fair value adjustments to investment properties: 

 Year ended December 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Standard acquisition costs  $ (3,448)  $ (4,291) 

Valuation gain on investment properties 10,655 13,373 

Straight line rental revenue  (2,136) (1,729) 

  $ 5,071  $ 7,353 

(b) Significant valuation assumptions: 

The significant assumptions made to determine the fair values of the investment properties are set 

out below: 

 
Discount rate (Income 

approach - yield method) 

Capitalization rate (Income 
approach – capitalization 

method) 

Price per square foot 
(Direct comparison 

approach) 

December 31, 2012    

Maximum 9.25% 8.00%  $ 295.00 

Minimum 6.50% 5.50%  $ 48.00 

Weighted average 7.77% 6.68%  $ 130.94 

December 31, 2011    

Maximum 9.25% 9.50%  $ 268.00 

Minimum 7.50% 5.50%  $ 48.00 

Weighted average 8.05% 6.84%  $ 134.99 

5. Mortgage reserve fund: 

The mortgage reserve fund consists of cash on deposit and was requested by lenders to be retained in 

escrow either pending expiry of the right to terminate in-place leases or to pay for any and all reasonable 

leasing costs.  These funds will be released once certain conditions are met, but no later than the maturity 

of the mortgages.  The term for the current mortgage reserve fund is between a few months and 4.5 

years. 

6. Cash held in trust: 

Cash held in trust consists of refundable deposits, held pursuant to agreements of purchase and sale, 

which are to be used solely for the acquisition of investment properties. 
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7. Class A units and Class B units: 

(a) Class A units and Class B units: 

 
Class A 

(authorized = unlimited) 
Class B 

(authorized = unlimited) 
Total 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Units issued 
and 

outstanding Carrying Value 

Units issued 
and 

outstanding 
Carrying 

Value 
Carrying 

Value 

Balance, January 1, 2011 27,141,263  $ 95,592 278,947  $ 1,116  $ 96,708 

Issuance of units 23,282,640 94,553 - - 94,553 

Balance, January 1, 2012 50,423,903 190,145 278,947 1,116 191,261 

Issuance of units 34,588,885 151,370 - - 151,370 

Redemption of units (94,900) (418) - - (418) 

Balance, December 31, 2012 84,917,888  $ 341,097 278,947  $ 1,116  $ 342,213 

The beneficial interests in the Trust are divided into Class A units and Class B units.  The Trust, 

pursuant to an agency agreement dated August 13, 2007, filed a final prospectus on August 13, 2007 

in each of the provinces of Canada in connection with its initial public offering of 4,750,000 trust units 

at a price of $4.00 per unit for total gross proceeds of $19,000,000 (the Offering). 

Sunstone Industrial Advisors Inc. (“Sunstone Industrial”) subscribed for 250,000 Class B units at a 

price of $4.00 per unit for total gross proceeds of $1,000,000 concurrent with the closing of the 

offering.  

The Trust also granted the agents an over-allotment option to purchase up to an additional 712,500 

Class A units for a period of up to 30 days after closing of the Offering.  To the extent additional trust 

units were issued pursuant to the over-allotment option, Sunstone Industrial agreed to subscribe for 

its pro rata share of additional Class B units. 

Except as set out in the Trust Declaration, no Class A units or Class B units unit has any preference or 

priority over another. 

Upon completion of the Offering, holders of the Class A units share in a 95% equity interest (the Class 

A Unit Percentage Interest) in all distributions and all net assets of the Trust and Sunstone Industrial, 

as the holder of the Class B units, shares in a 5% equity interest (the Class B Unit Percentage Interest) 

in all distributions and all net assets of the Trust. 

Each Class A unit is transferable and, so long as there are Class B units issued and outstanding, each 

Class A unit represents an equal undivided ownership interest in and to the Class A Unit Percentage 

Interest of any net assets of the Trust, whether of net earnings, net realized capital gains or other 

amounts, and in the Class A Unit Percentage Interest of any net assets of the Trust in the event of the 

termination or winding-up, after payment of all debts, liabilities and liquidation expenses of the Trust. 

The unitholders have the right to require the Trust to redeem their trust units on demand at the 

prices determined and payable in accordance with the Trust Declaration.  The Trust will not be 

required to pay the redemption price by way of a cash payment if the total amount payable by the 

Trust in any month will exceed the greater of $20,000 and the amount that is 0.10% of the aggregate 

subscription price of all Trust units that were outstanding at the end of such month. 
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(c) Issuance of Class A units 

(i) On January 26, 2012, PIRET announced the closing of a bought deal offering for 8,280,000 Class A 

units priced at $4.20 per unit, which includes the over-allotment option for 1,080,000 Class A 

units, for total gross proceeds of $34,776,000. 

(ii) On March 1, 2012, the Trust announced the closing of a bought deal offering for 7,000,000 Class 

A units priced at $4.50 per unit for total gross proceeds of $31,500,000.   

(iii) On March 14, 2012, the Trust announced the issuance of 703,100 Class A Units of $4.50 per unit 

for total gross proceeds of $3,163,950, pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-allotment 

option granted to the syndicate of underwriters involved with the March 1, 2012 bought deal 

offering.   

(iv) On May 28, 2012, three Trustees redeemed their vested restricted units for 57,694 Class A units 

at a price of $4.46.  The restricted units have been accrued as a liability and the redemption of 

the restricted units has increased the total Class A units outstanding and the corresponding 

carrying value by $257,315.   

(v) On June 28, 2012, a Trustee redeemed his vested restricted units for 18,357 Class A units at a 

price of $4.64.  The restricted units have been accrued as a liability and the redemption of the 

restricted units has increased the total Class A units outstanding and the corresponding carrying 

value by $85,176.   

(vi) On July 18, 2012, a unitholder redeemed 94,900 Class A units at a redemption price of $4.40 per 

Unit for a total redemption payment of $417,560.   

(vii) On September 12, 2012, the Trust announced the closing of a bought deal offering for 7,015,000 

Class A units priced at $4.95 per unit, which includes the over-allotment option for 915,000 Class 

A units, for total gross proceeds of $34,724,250. 

(viii) On November 13, 2012, the Trust issued 20,834 Class A units to the Trust’s President at a price of 

$4.80 per unit representing $100,000 in compensation pursuant to his employment agreement 

with the Trust. 

(ix) On December 12, 2012, the Trust announced the closing of a bought deal offering for 10,530,000 

Class A units priced at $4.75 per unit for total gross proceeds of $50,017,500.   

(x) On December 27, 2012, the Trust announced the issuance of 963,900 Class A units priced at 

$4.75 per unit for total gross proceeds of $4,578,525 pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-

allotment option granted to the syndicate of underwriters involved with the December 12, 2012 

bought deal offering.   

(c) Conversion rights of Class B units: 

Pursuant to the Trust Declaration, the Class B unitholders as a class are entitled to convert all but not 

less than all of their Class B units into Class A units based on the specified ratio.  Upon the Class B 

unitholders exercising their conversion rights, such Class B unitholders will own that number of Class 

A units which is equal to the Class B Unit Percentage Interest (initially 5%) of all units outstanding 
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after such conversion.  Sunstone Industrial did not exercise the conversion rights during the year 

ended December 31, 2012. 

On May 31, 2011, a Determination Event as defined in the Declaration of Trust occurred, as a result of 

the Trust's market capitalization exceeding $200,000,000 for a period of 10 consecutive trading 

days.  Upon the occurrence of the Determination Event, the number of Class A units into which the 

Class B units may be converted was fixed at 2,535,118.  

(d) Distributions: 

The Trust intends to make monthly distributions to unitholders.  Distributions are at the discretion of 

the Trustees of PIRET.  Prior to the Determination Event, all distributions from the Trust were made 

95% to the Class A units and 5% to the Class B units.  Commencing upon the Determination Event, the 

Class B unitholders' proportion of the Trust’s total distributions will fluctuate depending on the 

number of Class A units outstanding from time to time.  Furthermore, all unit issuance costs and 

distributions made relating to both the Class A and Class B units will be treated as equity transactions 

and will no longer be included in the statement of net earnings as finance expense. 

On November 8, 2012, the Trustees approved an increase to its monthly distribution to unitholders to 

$0.026 from $0.025 per trust unit commencing with the November 2012 distribution payable in 

December 2012.  On an annualized basis, the distribution will be $0.312 per trust unit.   

The Trust announced cash distributions for the period ended December 31, 2012 to Class A 

unitholders at $0.026 per unit per month and similarly announced a corresponding cash distribution 

to Class B unitholders. 

Year ended December 31 
(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Class A units  Class B units  

2012 2011 2012 2011 

Finance expense  $ -  $ 4,836  $ -  $ 252 

Equity distribution 20,686 8,821 766 444 

  $ 20,686  $ 13,657  $ 766  $ 696 

Distributions per weighted average unit  $ 0.31  $ 0.31  $ 2.75  $ 2.49 

8. Restricted unit plan: 

(a) The Trust has a restricted unit plan for the Trustees (the Plan).  The Plan provides for the grant of 

restricted units to participants (who may be Trustees, key management, key employees or 

consultants).  Each restricted unit will give the participant the right to receive, upon vesting, an 

amount equal to the fair market value of the units on the payment date, either by way of a cash 

payment or by the Trust acquiring Class A units in the open market, or from treasury, and distributing 

them to the participant, at the Trust’s option.  As distributions are paid on Class A units, additional 

restricted units will be credited to the participants in an amount determined by dividing the dollar 

amount of the distributions payable by the fair market value per unit on the date of the distribution.  

As well, the number of restricted units granted to a participant may be increased by a “performance 

factor” established by the Trustees at the time of grant. Unless otherwise determined by the 

Trustees, restricted units will vest and become available for redemption on the third anniversary of 

their being granted, or on a change of control or take-over bid for the Trust.  Restricted units vested 

must be redeemed not later than December 31 in the year of vesting. However, the restricted units 
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granted to a participant and any associated distribution restricted units shall not vest, and the 

participant shall not be entitled to such restricted units or associated distribution restricted units if 

the performance criteria that the Trust’s market capitalization must be no less than $100,000,000 at 

the vesting date, are not met.  

On November 18, 2010, the Plan was amended to permit the Trust to issue to each participant one 

Class A unit in the Trust to be delivered from treasury for each full restricted unit and full distribution 

restricted unit.  The Trust will make a lump-sum cash payment in respect of any fractional restricted 

unit or distribution restricted unit, on redemption.  The other terms and provisions of the Plan remain 

unchanged.  

On August 15, 2011, 52,640 total units were redeemed by the Trustees at $3.93 per unit. 

On March 6, 2012, 52,382 restricted units (December 31, 2011 – 30,000), 13,864 distribution 

restricted units (December 31, 2011 – 9,818), and 482 performance factor units (December 31, 2011 

– 12,822) were vested to the Trustees.   

On May 28, 2012, 57,694 total units comprised of 45,814 restricted units and 11,880 distribution 

restricted units were redeemed by the Trustees at $4.46 per unit.   

On June 28, 2012, 18,357 total units comprised of 14,286 restricted units and 4,071 distribution 

restricted units were redeemed by a Trustee at $4.64 per unit. 

On August 14, 2012, 117,087 restricted units (December 31, 2011 – nil) and 2,503 distribution 

restricted units (December 31, 2011 – nil) were granted to employees of the Trust.   

(b) The restricted units are measured at fair value each reporting period and recognized as an expense.  

For the year ended December 31, 2012, $157,164 in compensation expense (December 31, 2011 - 

($65,613), was included in general and administrative in the statement of earnings and 

comprehensive income in relation to the restricted units and distribution restricted units issued as at 

December 31, 2012.  

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 
Restricted 

Units  

Distribution 
Restricted 

Units  
Total 
Units  

Carrying  
 Value  

Balance, December 31, 2011 94,058 18,234 112,292 468 

Granting of units 117,087 6,889 123,976 99 

Redemption of units (60,100) (15,951) (76,051) (342) 

Fair Value Adjustment - - - (59) 

Balance, December 31, 2012 151,045 9,172 160,217  $ 283 
 

In determining the fair value of the restricted unit plan liability at each reporting period, the closing 

unit price is used to value the total restricted units outstanding.  In addition, the Trust determines 

whether the performance factor as defined in the Plan will be met for each grant and the associated 

distribution restricted units and uses the following the weighted average assumptions in the 

determination of fair value. 
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December 

 31, 2012 
December  

31, 2011 

 

Annual dividend per unit 

 $ 0.312  $ 0.300 

Closing unit price  $ 5.00  $ 4.16 

Discount rate 25% 25% 

Performance criteria ($100 million market capitalization) 100% 100% 

As at December 31, 2012, the weighted average contractual life of the restricted units was 7 months 

(December 31, 2011 – 7 months). 

9. Mortgages payable and bank loans: 

The mortgages payable and bank loans consist of the following: 

 (thousands of Canadian dollars) 

December 
31, 2012 

December  
31, 2011 

Mortgages payable  $ 386,075  $ 246,270 

Bank loans 7,800 3,228 

 393,875 249,498 

Less current portion  23,155 39,032 

Non-current portion  $ 370,720  $ 210,466 

(a) Mortgages payable 

Mortgages payable are recorded at amortized cost and bear a weighted average effective interest 

rate of 4.46% as at December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 – 4.95%). 

Mortgages payable are secured by charges on the Trust’s investment properties. 

The amount of mortgages payable at December 31, 2012 was $386,075,382 (December 31, 2011 - 

$246,270,496).  Offsetting mortgages payable are the related unamortized mortgage transaction 

costs of $2,375,652 as at December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 - $1,641,171), which are amortized 

over the term of each mortgage, using the effective interest rate method. 

Included in mortgages payable is the mark to market adjustment on the assumption of two 

mortgages for $2,094,743 as at December 31, 2012, which is being amortized over the remaining 

term of the mortgages using the effective interest rate method.   

Scheduled principal repayments and maturities, as of December 31, 2012, to be made on the 

mortgages payable over the next five years and thereafter and the corresponding weighted average 

effective rates are as follows: 
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Year ended December 31 
(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Weighted 
Average 

Effective Rate 

Scheduled 
Principal 

Repayments 
Principal 

Maturities 
Total 

Repayments 

2013 5.95%  $ 10,436  $ 4,920  $ 15,356 

2014 4.57% 10,601 6,108 16,709 

2015 4.95% 9,688 48,381 58,069 

2016 4.44% 8,386 57,889 66,275 

2017 3.87% 6,630 74,134 80,764 

Thereafter 4.56% 26,501 122,682 149,183 

 4.46%  $ 72,242  $ 314,114 386,356 

Unamortized mortgage transaction costs   (2,376) 

Unamortized mark to market mortgage adjustment  2,095 

     $ 386,075 

(b) Bank loans 

(i) In April 2010, PIRET established a revolving operating line of credit with a Lender in the 

amount of $750,000, bearing interest at the lender’s prime rate plus 1.75%, with a minimum of 

4% per annum.  The line of credit is secured by the income producing property at 90 Park Lane, 

Winnipeg, and is due on demand.  As at December 31, 2012, PIRET has drawn down $nil 

(December 2011 - $nil). 

(ii) In April 2011, PIRET secured three separate operating lines with a financial institution.  First, 

PIRET established a demand operating credit line with a bank, secured by 310 De Baets Street, 

with a credit limit of $5,000,000, bearing interest at prime rate plus 1% per annum.  The 

second demand operating credit line was secured by 1 Rutherford Court, Guelph, ON, with a 

credit limit of $3,900,000, bearing interest at prime rate plus 1% per annum.  Lastly, PIRET 

established a demand operating credit line, secured by 80 Rooney Crescent in Moncton, with a 

credit limit of $3,300,000, bearing interest at prime rate plus 1% per annum.  As at December 

31, 2012, $7,799,731 (December 31, 2011 - $3,227,725) has been drawn. 

(iii) In November 2012, PIRET secured a demand operating line with a financial institution, secured 

by 7830 Vantage Way, with a credit limit of $2,800,000, bearing interest at prime rate plus 1% 

per annum.  As at December 31, 2012, PIRET had not drawn down on the operating line. 
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10. General and administrative expenses: 

General and administrative expense consists of the following: 

 Year ended December 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

 

Salaries, fees, and benefits  $ 2,644  $ 689 

 Professional fees 391 299 

 

Rent and other occupancy costs 276 202 

 

Public company costs 251 164   

 

Other 285 108 

 3,847 1,462 

Less: Allocation to property recoverable operating expenses (1,123) (299) 

  $ 2,724  $ 1,163 

11. Finance income and finance costs: 

 Year ended December 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Finance income   

 

Interest and other income  $ 329  $ 209 

  329 209 

Finance costs   

 

Mortgage interest  $ 13,066  $ 9,819 

 Mortgage transaction costs - 50 

 

Interest expense on loans 80 124 

 

Class A unit offering costs - 5,263   

 

Distributions to Class A unitholders - 4,836 

 

Distributions to Class B unitholders - 252 

  $ 13,146  $ 20,344 

12. Fair value: 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that could be agreed upon in an 

arm’s-length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act.  In 

certain circumstances, however, the fair value may be based on other observable current market 

transactions in the same instrument, without modification or on a valuation technique using market-

based inputs.  For certain of the Trust’s financial instruments, including cash, cash held in trust, amounts 

receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, the carrying values approximate their fair values 

due to their short-term nature.   

The fair values of the mortgage reserve fund and mortgages payable have been calculated based on 

discounted future cash flows using discount rates that reflect current market conditions for instruments 

having similar terms and conditions (Level 2).  Discount rates are either provided by lenders or are 

observable in the open market.   
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  December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

(thousands of Canadian dollars)  

Carrying 

Amount 
Fair Value Carrying 

Amount 
Fair Value 

Mortgage reserve fund  $ 1,127  $ 1,111  $ 929  $ 913 

Mortgages payable 386,075 390,962 246,271 252,540 

13. Capital management: 

The Trust defines capital as the aggregate of unitholders’ equity and long-term debt.  The term “long-term 

debt” means any financial liabilities of the Trust beyond one year from the balance sheet date.  The 

Trust’s objectives in managing capital are to maintain a level of capital that: complies with investment and 

debt restrictions pursuant to the Trust Declaration; complies with existing debt covenants; funds its 

business strategies; and builds long-term unitholders’ value.  The Trust’s capital structure is approved by 

its unitholders as related to the Trust Declaration and by its board of Trustees through its periodic 

reviews.  Capital adequacy is monitored by the Trust by assessing performance against the approved 

annual plan throughout the year and by monitoring adherence to investment and debt restrictions 

contained in the Declaration and debt covenants.   

The Trust Declaration provides for a maximum indebtedness level of up to 70% of the gross book value.  

The term "indebtedness" means any obligation of the Trust for borrowed money (including the face 

amount outstanding under any convertible debentures and any outstanding liabilities of the Trust arising 

from the issuance of subordinated notes but excluding any premium in respect of indebtedness assumed 

by the Trust for which the Trust has the benefit of an interest rate subsidy), but excludes trade accounts 

payable, distributions payable to unitholders, accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business 

and short-term acquisition credit facilities.  The Trust Declaration defines “gross book value” as the book 

value of the assets of the Trust and its subsidiaries plus the amount of accumulated depreciation and 

amortization in respect of such assets (and related intangible assets), the amount of future income tax 

liability arising out of indirect acquisitions and excluding the amount of any receivable reflecting interest 

rate subsidies on any debt assumed by the Trust.  The Trust’s indebtedness level is 52% as at December 

31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 - 56%). 

The Trust Declaration allows the Trustees, at their discretion, to distribute to the Trust’s unitholders in 

each year all or a portion of the Trust’s income for the year, as calculated in accordance with the Income 

Tax Act after all permitted deductions under the Act have been taken.  The board of Trustees also reviews 

the cash distribution paid to unitholders on a regular basis.  The monthly distribution to Class A 

unitholders was $0.026 per unit for the period ended December 31, 2012 (year ended December 31, 2011 

- $0.025). 

The Trust is in compliance with all investment and debt restrictions pursuant to the Trust Declaration for 

the period ended December 31, 2012 and for the year ended December 31, 2011. 

On an individual investment property basis, the Trust is required by some of its lenders to maintain a debt 

service coverage ratio, ranging from 1.20 to 1.35 on the operating results of the applicable borrowings.  

As at December 31, 2012, the Trust is in compliance with these covenants. 

The capital structure consisted of the following components at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 

2011. 
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 (thousands of Canadian dollars) 

December 

31, 2012 

December 

31, 2011 

Capital   

Units based compensation  $ 283  $ 468 

Mortgages payable 386,075 246,270 

Class A units 341,247 190,145 

Class B units 1,116 1,116 

Accumulated earnings 10,772 1,060 

Total Capital  $ 739,493  $ 439,059 

Total capital increased significantly primarily due to the mortgage proceeds from new acquisitions and the 

issuance of additional trust units related to the the bought deals, offset by repayment of mortgage 

principal and distributions to unitholders for the period ended December 31, 2012. 

14. Risk management: 

In the normal course of business, the Trust is exposed to a number of risks from its use of financial 

instruments.  These risks, and the actions taken to manage them, are as follows:  

(a) Credit risk and economic dependence: 

The Trust’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 

tenant. 

The Trust is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-payment of rent and recoveries by its tenants.  

This risk is mitigated by obtaining advance deposits and initiating a prompt collection process.  The 

amount of trade receivables at December 31, 2012 was $198,657 (December 31, 2011 - $459,117), 

which included $68,635 past due.  

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Trust earned approximately or 12.7% (2011 –18.8%) of its 

revenue from a single tenant in British Columbia and Alberta. 

The mortgage reserve fund held by the lenders is recoverable once certain conditions are met, but no 

later than the maturity of the mortgages.  The Trust does not believe that there is any material credit 

risk associated with the mortgage reserve fund. 

(b) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that the value of, or cash flows related to, a financial 

instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates.  The Trust is exposed to 

interest rate risk from the interest rate differentials between the market rate and the rates used on 

these financial instruments.  Mortgages payable bear interest at fixed rates; therefore the Trust is not 

exposed to significant interest rate risk. 

The Trust’s bank loans bear interest at a floating rate based on the lender’s prime rate of interest.  

The impact of a 1.0% change in the lender’s prime rate will increase or decrease the Trust’s interest 

expense or earnings by $77,997 annually, based on the outstanding balance of the bank loans as at 

December 31, 2012 (2011 - $32,227). 
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(c) Liquidity risk: 

Real property investments tend to be relatively illiquid, with the degree of liquidity generally 

fluctuating in relation to demand for and the perceived desirability of such investments.  Such 

illiquidity may tend to limit PIRET’s ability to vary its portfolio promptly in response to changing 

economic or investment conditions.  If PIRET were required to liquidate a real property investment, 

the proceeds to PIRET might be significantly less than the aggregate carrying value of such property. 

The Trust diligently monitors the repayment dates of its mortgages and intends to refinance all 

mortgages due within the next 12 months.  The mortgage due dates range from 2012 to 2032, with a 

weighted average remaining term of 5.8 years (December 31, 2011 – 5.0 years). 

The Trust’s scheduled payments are: 

Year ended December 31 
 
(thousands of Canadian 
dollars) 

Accounts 

payable 

and other 

Rental 

Deposits 

Unit Based 

Compensation 

Bank 

loans 

Mortgage 

payments 

(principal and 

interest) 

Total 

       

2013  $ 9,154  $ 315  $ 233  $ 7,800  $ 32,188  $ 49,690 

2014 - 310 25 - 32,729 33,064 

2015 - 286 25 - 72,237 72,548 

2016 - 109 - - 77,741 77,850 

2017 - 156 - - 89,516 89,672 

Thereafter - 1,363 - - 168,561 169,924 

  $ 9,154  $ 2,539  $ 283  $ 7,800  $ 472,972  $ 492,748 

15. Related party transactions: 

PIRET is related to Sunstone Realty Advisors (2005) Inc., Sunstone Industrial Investments Inc. and 

Sunstone Industrial Advisors Inc. by virtue of having some officers and directors in common. 

(a) PIRET is related to a mortgage brokerage firm by virtue of having a trustee in common.  PIRET paid 

the firm $241,830 in mortgage brokerage fees during the year ended December 31, 2012 for the 

refinancing of 8 investment properties and new financing of 12 investment properties.  PIRET paid the 

firm a mortgage brokerage fee in the amount of $176,509 during the year ended December 31, 2011 

for the financing of 4 mortgages.  It is in management’s opinion that the mortgage brokerage fees are 

in line with current market rates. 

(b) On April 12, 2012, pursuant to the purchase option in the loan agreement, the Trust exercised its 

option and acquired an investment property for $10,555,333, located at 2440 Winston Park Drive, 

Oakville, Ontario from 2440 Winston Park Drive Limited Partnership (“Winston Park LP”), a related 

entity by virtue of having officers and directors in common.  The original option was restructured to 

allow the Trust to acquire the asset instead of the limited partnership units of Winston Park LP.  It is 

in management’s opinion that the mortgage brokerage fees are in line with current market rates.  

The property has a total rentable area of 94,988 square feet and is situated on 5.074 acres of land.     

(c) On April 15, 2011, PIRET acquired the Tristar property at 7660 Vantage Way, Delta, BC for $9,300,000 

from Sunstone Opportunity (2007) Realty Trust, a related entity by virtue of having officers and 
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directors in common.  It is management’s opinion that the acquisition price is in line with current 

market values, as evidenced by an appraisal performed by a third party. 

(d) Key management personnel have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 

controlling the activities of the Trust, directly or indirectly.  The Trust’s key management personnel 

include the Co-CEO’s, President, Chief Financial Officer, Vice President Operations, and Trustees.  

Salaries, trustee fees, and other short-term employee benefits are accrued when earned and are as 

follows:   

 Year ended December 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Salaries, trustee fees, and other short-term employee benefits  $ 1,513  $ 529 

Unit-based compensation  157 (66) 

  $ 1,670  $ 463 

16. Operating segments: 

The Trust has 7 reportable segments, which are: British Columbia (BC), Alberta (AB), Saskatchewan (SK), 

Manitoba (MB), Ontario (ON), Quebec (QC), and New Brunswick (NB).  For each of the geographic 

locations, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) reviews operations based on earnings from property 

operations by geographic location, which is presented below.     
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  Statement of net income and comprehensive income 

Year ended December 31, 2012         

 (thousands of Canadian dollars)  BC  AB SK  MB  ON  QC NB  Corp Total 

Revenues          

Rental and recoveries  $ 8,402  $15,301 $ 1,620  $ 4,698  $18,762 $ 2,388  $1,169  $ -  $ 52,340 

          
Property recoverable operating 

expenses 

       

Insurance  80  67  25  43  213  23  8  -  459 

Management fees  152  326  11  174  577  16  20  -  1,276 

Recoverable operating costs  56  424  10  308  1,096  2  133  -  2,028 

Property taxes  1,062  1,869  151  786  4,113  730  288  -  8,999 

  1,350  2,686  197  1,311  5,999  771  448  -  12,762 

Earnings from property 

operations 
 7,052  12,615  1,423  3,387   12,763   1,617   721   -  39,578 

Other income (expense):          

General and administrative  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (2,724)  (2,724) 

Gain on sale of investment 

properties 

 -  2,055  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,055 

Fair value adjustment to 

investment properties 

 (1,355)  799  2,155  (122)  3,575  (49)  68  -  5,071 

  (1,355)  2,854  2,155  (122)  3,575  (49)  68  (2,724)  4,402 

Net earnings before finance 

costs 
 5,697  15,469  3,577  3,265   16,338   1,568   789  (2,724)  43,980 

Finance costs          

Finance income  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  329  329 

Finance costs  (2,727)  (4,427)  (457)  (999)  (3,670)  (686)  (100)  (80)  (13,146) 

Net finance costs  (2,727)  (4,427)  (457)  (999)  (3,670)  (686)  (100)  249  (12,817) 

Net earnings and 

comprehensive income 
 $ 2,970  $11,042 $ 3,121  $ 2,266  $12,668 $ 882  $ 689  $ (2,475)  $ 31,163 

Other information from statement of financial position      
December 31, 2012 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

BC AB SK MB ON QC NB Corp Total 

Investment properties  $208,230  $227,366  $12,300  $ 48,158 $217,394 $  20,935  $ 9,485  $ -  $ 743,868 

Total assets   209,581   228,434   12,356   49,494   220,587   21,153   9,552   7,982   759,138 

Mortgages payable and bank 

loans 

  113,633   117,349   7,892   23,996   109,377   12,369   1,459   7,800   393,875 

Total liabilities   115,312   118,484   7,908   25,204   114,294   12,685   1,498   10,767   406,153 
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  Statement of net income and comprehensive income 

Year ended December 31, 2011         

 (thousands of Canadian dollars)  BC  AB SK  MB  ON  QC NB  Corp Total 

Revenues          

Rental and recoveries  $ 6,950  $11,352 $ 1,669  $ 2,332  $ 9,412 $ 2,331  $ 887  $ -  $ 34,933 

          

Property recoverable operating 

expenses 

       

Insurance  36  56  1  26  91  20  3  -  233 

Management fees  96  194  12  70  307  12  11  -  702 

Recoverable operating costs  61  211  4  162  331  4  54  -  827 

Property taxes  1,062  1,329  152  400  2,112  688  188  -  5,931 

  1,255  1,790  169  658  2,841  724  256  -  7,693 

Earnings from property 

operations 
 5,695  9,562  1,500  1,674   6,571   1,607   631   -  27,240 

Other income (expense):          

General and administrative  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,163)  (1,163) 

Fair value adjustment to 

investment properties 

 2,665  3,534  (195)  (78)  (1,347)  1,721  1,053  -  7,353 

  2,665  3,534  (195)  (78)  (1,347)  1,721  1,053  (1,163)  6,190 

Net earnings before finance 

costs 
 8,360  13,096  1,305  1,596   5,224   3,328   1,684  (1,163)  33,430 

Finance costs          

Finance income  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  209  209 

Finance costs  (2,228)  (3,515)  (394)  (409)  (2,325)  (512)  (94)  (10,867)  (20,344) 

Net finance costs  (2,228)  (3,515)  (394)  (409)  (2,325)  (512)  (94)  (10,658)  (20,135) 

Net earnings and 

comprehensive income 
 $ 6,132  $ 9,581 $ 911  $ 1,187  $ 2,899 $ 2,816  $1,590  $ (11,821)  $ 13,295 

Other information from statement of financial position      

December 31, 2011 

(thousands of Canadian 

dollars) 

 BC  AB SK  MB  ON  QC NB  Corp Total 

Investment properties  $ 93,455  $ 147,645  $ 12,300  $ 29,405  $126,336  $ 20,935  $ 9,405  $ -  $ 439,481 

Total assets   93,945   148,681   12,301   29,913   127,489   21,261   9,518   4,804   447,912 

Mortgages payable and bank 

loans 

  51,915   86,179   8,272   12,954   72,772   12,676   1,502   3,228   249,498 

Total liabilities   52,386   87,150   8,293   13,350   74,776   13,054   1,536   5,046   255,591 

17. Leases: 

PIRET has entered into leases on its property portfolio.  The commercial property leases typically have 

lease terms between 3 to 25 years and include renewal options with rental rates according to prevailing 

market conditions.  Currently, 69% of the properties’ gross leasable area is leased to single tenants.  

Future minimum rental revenues under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 
December 31, 

2012 

December 31, 

2011 

Within 1 year  $ 52,781  $ 30,759 

Years 2 – 5 180,267   108,181  

Greater than 5 years 299,536   205,340 

 

 $ 532,584  $ 344,280  
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18. Income taxes: 

The Trust is a REIT and a “mutual fund trust” for tax purposes.  The Trust intends to distribute all taxable 

income for the year to unitholders, and to deduct such distribution for income tax purposes.  The Trust 

intends to continue to operate in a manner so as to qualify as a REIT and as a “mutual fund trust” for tax 

purposes.  Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been recorded in the Trust’s financial 

statements. 

19. Supplementary cash flow information: 

 

Year ended December 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 

Changes in non-cash working capital:   

 Increase in amounts receivable and other  $ (829)  $ (672) 

 Increase in rental deposits 935 848 

 Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 4,707 1,506 

 

 

 $ 4,813  $ 1,682 

20. Subsequent events: 

(a) On January 24, 2013, PIRET successfully completed the acquisition of a multi-tenant, fully leased 

investment property located at 13055 80
th

 Avenue, Surrey, British Columbia for $4,600,000. 

(b) On January 24, 2013, PIRET completed the disposition of a single-tenant industrial property for gross 

proceeds of $8,300,000.  The property is located at 3500 Viking Way, Richmond, British Columbia.     

(c) On February 4, 2013, the Trust successfully completed the acquisition of a single-tenant, investment 

property located at 18111 Blundell Road in Richmond, British Columbia for $44,100,000.  The Trust 

obtained new mortgage financing of $28,600,000 at an interest rate of 4.33% per annum for a term 

of 10 years related to the property.   

(d) On February 12, 2013, PIRET closed a public offering of 13,800,000 Class A units including 1,800,000 

units issued pursuant to the exercise in full of the over-allotment option, on a bought deal basis, at a 

price of $5.05 per unit, for total gross proceeds of $69,690,000. 

(e) On February 14, 2013, the Trust successfully completed the acquisition of three investment 

properties for a total purchase price of $21,800,000.  The acquired properties consist of two single-

tenants and one fully leased multi-tenant property, and are located at 11307 and 11329 – 166A 

Street NW, 12900 – 148
th

 Street NW and 11415 – 168
th

 Street NW, in Edmonton Alberta.  The  Trust 

obtained new mortgage financing of $12,985,000 at an interest rate of 4.20% per annum for a term 

of 10 years related to the properties.   

(f) On February 20, 2013, the Trust successfully completed the acquisition of a fully leased multi-tenant 

income producing industrial property for $32,320,000.  The property is located at 16111 Blundell 

Road, Richmond, British Columbia.  The Trust obtained new mortgage financing of $22,000,000 at an 

interest rate of 3.90% per annum for a term of 7 years related to the property. 
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Offices
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TF: 888-681-5959
F: 604-681-5969
www.piret.ca

Toronto Office
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T: 416-479-8590
F: 416-598-0435
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TF:  800-564-6253
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Taxation of Distributions
Distributions paid to Unitholders in respect to the tax 
year ending December 31, 2012 are as follows:
Return of Capital: 89.63%
Capital Gain:  10.31%

Stock Exchange Listing
Toronto Stock Exchange - TSX

Listing Symbol
AAR.UN

Annual Meeting of Unitholders
Monday May 13, 2013 at 10:00 AM PST
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Chateau Belair
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